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SENATOR RODERICK WRIGHT:  ___________ a number of democratic members have a caucus that will start at noon, so we’re not at an absolute, drop dead date, but we’re going to end pretty close to 12:00.  But let me say again; the fact that we may go until noon doesn’t mean that anyone has to feel that they need to talk that long.  But we want to give everyone ample time to have their say.  


I am Rod Wright, the chair of the committee.  Because this is an informational hearing and we’re not taking a vote, I’m going to forgo the normal thing of waiting for a quorum and establishing it because today I don’t need one.  

This is the Governmental Organization Committee of the Senate.  For those of you who were around about a year and a half ago, we gathered in this same hearing room for what was then an all-day hearing to talk about internet gaming.  We covered a number of facets:  a lot of what was taking place in Europe; a lot of what was taking place in Asia.  The idea at that time was to bring forth as much information as we could obtain.
In the months of February and March, this Committee conducted five additional hearings.  We first began looking at legislation last year.  But we held five hearings because we had a number of issues that arose during the course of the discussion.  The issues were on exclusivity, the sovereign immunity, the number of hubs, the types of games, financial and legal qualifications for eligibility, the socioeconomic impacts that could occur from having internet gaming.  So adding the 12 hours to the original 8, that was some 14 hours of hearings, not counting the time that members have spent working on bills and drafts and other meetings.  
Since we have already had a global discussion about internet gaming, our meeting today is going to specifically center around the aspects of two bills—and you’ll see—there will be handouts and things before you.  One of those will be SB 40 by my colleague Senator Correa.  Senator Correa is not on the committee but what I’m going to ask him to do is at the conclusion of his presentation, I ‘m going to ask if he will join the panel and be prepared to raise questions from this side, just as people will raise questions of Senator Correa; so without objection.  Again, because we’re having an informational hearing, Senator, you’re more welcome, after your presentation, to join us on this side of the panel.
A little about what I intend to do today.  Each author has been given              30 minutes to make a presentation regarding their proposal.  Now that’s 30 minutes to use however they choose.  At the end of that time the panel here will make comments about what was proposed or not.  It’s not a requirement that anybody has comments but in case someone from the panel has comments.  From there we will then take questions from the audience—not too many soliloquies, but we’ll take questions from the audience on the specific proposal that was being discussed.  And then we will repeat that same format with SB 45.  
During the presentation of SB 45, the meeting will be chaired by my colleague and the vice-chair of the Committee, Senator Joel Anderson, as I’ll be at the podium where Senator Correa is standing now.  And then we’ll repeat that same process.  

And ideally we’ll conclude the meeting with questions that will come from the audience on the subject matter itself.  That’s kind of sort of where we were going to go.  I don’t need a motion for that since this is an informational hearing and I made it up.  That will be how we’ll proceed this morning.

I would like to acknowledge an old friend of mine, someone who actually employed me once.  I still curse the day that he ever took me to a clothing store in San Francisco where I’ve been made eternally broke.  The former mayor of San Francisco and the Speaker of the Assembly in this body, please welcome the Honorable Willie Louis Brown, Jr.  (applause)

So without further ado, I wanted again to welcome you all.  This is a discussion about internet gaming so those of you who were coming to hear a budget discussion or something akin to something else, you might be in the wrong room but I assure you that it will be a very interesting discussion we have this morning.

Senator Correa, you’ve got 30 minutes to present.  Use it however you wish on SB 40.

SENATOR LOU CORREA:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  A just quick point of clarification:  I want to make sure that at the end of that half-hour we have a brief time period for supporters or those opponents to briefly introduce themselves.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  They’ll follow you but that won’t be on your time; your   30 minutes belong to you.
SENATOR CORREA:  Thank you.  And questions won’t be on my time either, right?

SENATOR WRIGHT:  No.

SENATOR CORREA:  Thank you very much.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  In my past life I used to run track, so I have one of those kind of stop watches where you can stop it and then continue the time and ring it back.  Nike actually does these …

SENATOR CORREA:  I don’t think you ever stopped running track, did you?

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Oh yeah.  No.  Arthritis told me to stop so I now watch.  But Senator Correa, you’re up.  Welcome aboard.

SENATOR CORREA:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  First of all, let me thank you very much for putting this informational hearing together on Senate Bill 40 and         Senate Bill 45.

I call SB 40 the California First bill because after all, when it comes to online poker, California is first with more than two million Californians playing poker—online poker—every week.  California is the largest single market for online poker in the United States, and that’s according to a 2009 study.  

SB 40 has been amended.  It has been worked on.  It has been massaged.  And in many ways it has borrowed a lot from SB 45; a lot of similarities.  The one thing is important though about SB 40, that it is a poker only bill.  Poker is ready to move forward now.  It has operated in California for more than a century.  Californians know poker.  California regulates poker.  And the public wants online poker.  And, tribal country is united on this very important aspect—poker only.

In February, as you said, this Committee did have some hearings.  At part of those hearings you heard two national experts on tribal gaming who agreed that online poker does not interfere with tribal compacts or sovereignty.  And that’s because poker is defined by the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act as a Class-2 game and is therefore not exclusive to tribes.  Only Class-3 games, house banked games like slots and blackjack are exclusive to tribes.  This is a major issue for Indian country.  SB 40 completely avoids this issue by being poker only.
Mr. Chair and Members, what we need in this state right now is consumer protection, protection of our kids.  We need that right now.  And what our state also needs is revenue.  SB 40 will allow California to generate $250 million—let me repeat that—a quarter billion dollars in this fiscal year.  Money that will help us meet the revenue projected in this budget but not identified.  

SB 40 will help to avoid the triggers that will result in deeper cuts to education and other public services.  

Mr. Chair, Members, this is the time for California to act.  Congress continues to roll out proposal after proposal aimed at shipping California’s online poker jobs and revenue out of the state.  We cannot afford to wait.  There have been seven attempts to authorize online gaming at the federal level in just the last 12 months.  And in this year alone, since January, there have been four attempts at the federal level and each time Congress gets closer and closer.

I’ve asked Mr. Jim Wise, a well-regarded federal advocate, to talk a little bit about these federal threats and just how significant they are.

Jim.

MR. JIM WISE:  Thank you, Senator.  Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Anderson, Members of the Committee, thank you very much for the opportunity to appear before you this morning.  I’m Jim Wise.  I’m the managing partner of PACE Companies, a federally regulated licensed lobbying firm in Washington, D.C. and I’m appearing before you this morning on behalf of COPA.  

I’d like to address several important points with regard to federal internet gaming this morning if I may.

I believe the likelihood of federally enacted internet gaming legislation is quite high.  I say this for three reasons:  the potential for increased tax revenues; the support of congressional leadership; and increasing public demand.  First and foremost, the extreme budgetary pressures on the federal government compel Congress to identify revenue raising measures that afford minimal political opposition.  And to this end, the Joint Committee of Taxation’s score of $42 billion in new federal revenues for internet gaming is very attractive and with minimal political opposition.  While the revenue allocations among the various belts differ, essentially all the federal bills offer both licensing fees and operating taxes with varying percentages being dedicated to the state in which the player originates or where the licensing is established.  Secondly, the indictments earlier this year of the three largest overseas internet gaming sites, as well as a number of smaller ones, has greatly increased awareness of this marketplace.  The reaction to these indictments, some of the big Las Vegas gaming corporations and Kentucky based horse racing interests, see the temporary absence of the major foreign competition has created a unique opportunity for them to step in and fill the void.  As the result, they have been pressuring their powerful allies in Washington such as Senator Majority Leader Harry Reid of Nevada and Senate Minority Leader Mitch McConnell of Kentucky, to act now to create a federal program.  

Now while there have been efforts in Congress to enact federal internet gaming legislation for nearly ten years, it’s really only been within the last eight months that the leadership within Congress, and particularly on the Senate side, have aligned themselves in support of such reforms for federal gambling laws.  Consider that in December 2010, Senate Majority Leader Reid in association with Senator John Kyl of Arizona, the Senate’s number two republican, joined efforts to promote a federal regulatory bill that was nearly included in their year-end spending bill called the Continuing Resolution.  Provisions in that bill would have also assisted Churchill Downs, an important constituent to Minority Leader McConnell from Kentucky, who were advised that each of these senators remain very interested in securing passage of the federal internet gaming bill in this Congress.  

And in the House, the former chairman of the Energy and Commerce Committee, Joe Barton from Texas, has recently introduced a poker only internet bill and has garnered the support of several other powerful members.  

Additionally, Speaker John Boehner’s top political operative recently left to become the head lobbyist for the American Gaming Association.  And it’s been reported that the American Gaming Association and its Nevada based members are in the process in developing an alternative bill that will funnel tax revenues to those states that they believe are most equipped to regulate the activity and, obviously, I think the conclusion will be drawn that those would be Nevada and New Jersey.
Finally, there’s growing public endorsement for the authorization of internet gaming.  

The indictments earlier this year have created a broad base of support among internet players who continue to advocate for some form of legal online play.  The Poker Player Alliance, a nonprofit membership based advocacy group, has reportedly seen its membership base swell since the indictments and their online lobbying efforts have kicked into high gear.  All of the major casino operators have hired top flight lobbying firms to work on this issue, placing a greater emphasis on grass supports programs—grassroots programs, excuse me.  Support for an internet gaming program is even being advocated by the conservative anti-tax organization, Americans for Tax Reform, thereby providing a perfect political cover for many republicans who might otherwise oppose this measure as a pro-gambling initiative.
Now let me say that while I think the likelihood of any proposal dealing with internet gaming passing as a standalone bill is very small, I think it’s also important to point out that Congress must consider a number of must pass items both this year and clearly next year as well.  Among those bills, as some of you are well aware of, the debt ceiling bill, potential tax reform bills, appropriations bills, with the distinct likelihood of again this year, having to take a look at a continuing resolution.  All of these measures could serve as a vehicle to include an internet gaming bill with the active support of the congressional leaders who have now demonstrated a very high level of interest in this proposal.

I’ve been also asked to address some of the initiatives that are happening in various states.

In last April, the District of Columbia government legalized internet poker for play within the district.  While they’re still trying to clear a few legal hurdles, the district officials that play there could begin as early as this October. 

In Florida, legislation to legalize internet poker has been introduced in the Florida legislature in the last three sessions.  The most recent bill cleared one committee by a wide margin before stalling out at a second committee under opposition from lobbying groups funded by overseas gaming interests.  These interests thought the bill would limit licensing only to domestic Florida entities, but most observers believe that this bill will be reconsidered in 2012.

In Hawaii, a bill to legalize internet poker was introduced in the legislature but failed to advance.  Proponents plan on reintroducing that legislation next session.

In Iowa, legislation to legalize internet poker was introduced.  It made progress but ultimately did not clear the Iowa legislature this year.  A significant factor in its failure to pass was the addition of other casino related issues in the bill, including disputes over the division of horse racing purses and county referendums on licenses for land-based casinos.  Ultimately, the bill was amended to call for an impact study on internet poker in Iowa, setting the stage for reconsideration in 2012.

In New Jersey, the state legislature in early 2011, passed a bill that would legalize full internet gaming for residents of New Jersey and overseas players using New Jersey based sites.  The bill was vetoed by Governor Christie in March of 2011, with his concerns centered around the New Jersey state constitutional issues on gaming being confined only to Atlantic City.  The bill was strongly opposed by Caesar’s Entertainment that indicated it wanted a national federal system instead.  The bill will be reintroduced in the upcoming session and perhaps even crafted as a statewide initiative. 

But perhaps the most interesting and the most significant legislation enacted at the state level was in Nevada where in June of this year, Governor Brian Sandoval signed into a law a bill mandating the Nevada Gaming Commission to have regulations for internet gaming finalized by January of 2012.  This bill will put the state of Nevada in a leading position to regulate internet gaming nationally should federal legislation be approved.  Given the licensing provisions contained in either the Reid or Barton bills, it’s safe to assume that Nevada could be well positioned to serve as the national gatekeeper for licensing on internet gaming.  And I would hasten to add that the most likely bills that would come out of Congress would either be the Barton or Reid bills.  
That concludes my portion of the presentation this morning and I thank you very much.

SENATOR CORREA:  Thank you, Mr. Wise.  If I may, Mr. Chair, California has two groups who act as our trusted gaming partners; tribes and licensed card clubs.  Some time ago these groups came together and invited every tribe and every card club in the state to join the California Online Poker Association, or, COPA.  Today I’ve asked Mayor Willie Brown to tell us a little bit about COPA and its efforts.  Mr. Mayor.

HONORABLE WILLIE BROWN:  Mr. Chairman, distinguished Members of this committee, Senator Correa, who is the author of SB 40, _____ COPA, sought, got his advice in introducing this particular measure.  COPA is an organization made up of 29 of the tribes, Indian tribes that are federally recognized in this state, and I think some 31 of the card clubs that represent about 70 percent of all ables in the state of California licensed to do business in this state.  The two organizations came together independent of each other and formed COPA (California Online Poker Association), extended the opportunity to every other tribe (federally recognized), and every other card club to be participants in their efforts.  Their efforts were to protect the 64,000 or more jobs that exist in this state, in the gaming world, and the more than, I don’t know, $11- or $12 billion that has been generated in revenues in this state, all for the expressed purpose of ensuring that California would not be put out of business on the gaming front and since online gaming and online poker is the next frontier of a whole business of doing gaming.  

California is an interesting state in that it has always been on the cutting edge and the leader in almost every category.  As of now, the Barton bill referred to by Mr. Wise, there will the potential for only New Jersey and Nevada being allowed to do internet gaming.  Californians, as indicated by Senator Correa, are a huge volume of business, potentially, on the internet gaming side.  The standalone facilities that exist in this state that make up COPA, they’re coming together.  They’ve not only invited people who are in the gaming business but on the tribal side, they invited those smaller tribes that could not get, necessarily, into the gaming business.
Senator Correa referred to his bill when he talked about the potential of $250 million coming from this effort.
COPA was created not for the purpose of excluding anybody but simply including everybody in an effort to put together a regulatory scheme pushed by the Legislature reflective, Mr. Chairman, of almost two years of study that you have led for the express purpose of getting California in the business ahead of any bar or any modification that may occur from the national efforts.  

I would say to you, Mr. Chairman and Members, that we all watched, as my colleague Patrick Riley reminded me yesterday of the incredible performance of the U.S. women’s soccer team.  It showed a combination of spirit, a combination of dedication and working together.  COPA is designed to do exactly that.  And for your information, the 13 members of your committee, Mr. Chairman, nine members of such committee have COPA membership in their respective district with Senator Evans having, I think, probably the most—some six or seven COPA members in that respective district.

In the audience, you will recognize some of the people that otherwise will testify.  You recognize Leo Chu from Hollywood Parks; Hague, who was here, a _________ who’s always here with us on gaming matters from the Commerce Club; and Chairman Robert Martin from Morongo Band of Mission Indians, and many others who are here.  They’re all here to ask you that now is the time that we must move ahead of what might happen at the federal level so that the state of California will continue to be able to do the things that need to be done to keep us front and center producing revenue and resources for this state in internet gaming.

Thank you.

SENATOR CORREA:  Mr. Chair, if I may now address jobs and revenue.  

As a state we cannot continue to make painful cutbacks to education, law enforcement, health care and social services.  Not when there are more than          $1.4 billion in new state revenues at stake, as well as 1,300 new California jobs through SB 40.  The person who came up with these numbers is our former California state finance director, Tim Gage, and I’m going to ask him to address these numbers to the Chair.  Mr. Gage.

MR. TIM GAGE:  Thank you, Senator.  Mr. Chairman and Members, I’m Tim Gage, former director of the California Department of Finance.  I appear before you today as neither a proponent nor an opponent of any of these bills.  I am a partner in the Blue Sky Consulting Group, a small economics and public policy consulting firm.  We were retained by COPA to prepare estimates of the fiscal effect associated with the state authorizing online poker.  In order to do this, it’s necessary to make estimates of two groups of people.  First, those who have been playing poker at offshore sites, at least up until the recent federal action.  The second group, are those folks who are not currently playing at offshore sites but would be inclined to do so if California were to authorize legal onshore sites.  We used two surveys for the purpose of estimating the size of these two different groups and that’s where our analysis is different from other analyses that may be available to the Committee for its consideration.  Most of these other analyses’ view estimates of the national, or in some cases, the size of the California market, but without providing anything in the way of independent research as it relates to determining the size of that market.  Therefore, we think our work makes an original contribution to understanding what the potential fiscal effects are in California.
Recently, in the wake of the federal action, we revised our estimates because given the fact that offshore poker is now much more difficult for folks who had previously been involved in that to engage in, that changes the dynamic with respect to the kinds of alternatives that players face and as a consequence has the effect of increasing the fiscal effect.

We made assumptions about the level of the, in effect, licensing fee or general growth revenue fee that would be charged for entrance into a California market at 10 percent.  And then we estimated not just the value of that fee revenue, but also income taxes on net winnings, corporation taxes on economic activity as a result of this activity, and indirect tax activity in the form of taxes on employee wages and taxes on indirect economic effects.  Those indirect economic effects are the result of a larger level of economic activity throughout the state.  As a result of this activity which is primarily one that heretofore has been one that revenues flow outside the state.  If instead those resources come into California, that will have the effect of generating additional economic activity.
Based on the combination of those estimates, we estimated that the total annual fiscal impact, including all of those components, would be roughly             $117 million.  Let me say a little bit about that number:  That’s a baseline annual fiscal impact.  It would be expected to grow over time.  We don’t have a good methodology or basis for making that estimate but we did work through the numbers to indicate that if, for example, that revenue grew by growth in population and growth in personal income, then you would see that revenue grow to, after a ten-year period, roughly $287 million—I’m sorry, $188 million, generating over a ten-year period some roughly $1.4 billion.  

Two other important components or caveats about those numbers.  One is there would likely be some phase-in period for those revenues, so the question of what you would actually realize in the first fiscal year of operation would depend on a number of factors including the timing of passage of any such legislation, how quickly regulations could be developed and the infrastructure for regulating the industry would take, what time it would take for the industry itself to gear up and actually put forward its marketing efforts.  Those would all be factors that it would influence, ultimately, the amount of resources or revenues that would be generated in the first year.  
In addition, we were not qualified to evaluate, but assume for purposes of our analysis, that the state would not run afoul of the exclusivity provisions of the current gaming compacts.  That was simply an assumption that we made for purposes of our analysis but as I say, we’re not attorneys so we’re not qualified to evaluate that.  Certainly that’s an issue that the Legislature should take into consideration.

That concludes my remarks.  I’m available for any questions.

SENATOR CORREA:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Chair, I’ll move onto consumer protection and safeguards.  You ask; why do we need to regulate online gaming?  In 2006, Congress passed the Unlawful Internet Gaming Enforcement Act which was intended to band or stop Americans from online gambling.  Clearly, it has not worked.  As we mentioned earlier, two million Californians play online poker every week.  As a result of all this playing illegally, you have an untold number of online poker players that have been victims of fraud and theft.  The examples:  Absolute Poker cheated in 2007, cheated $1.6 million from our players in California.  A year later, Ultimate Bet cheated players out of more than $20 million.  Then, as a result of the recent Black Friday federal indictments, Full Tilt Poker, $150 million, again, lost by the players there.  Our bill includes safeguards to protect California consumers against this type of fraudulent theft.  This bill also addresses the dangers of underage gambling and it also addresses the issue of problem gambling.
If I can, I’d like to turn it over to Mr. Rick Weil, managing director of Sciplay who has tremendous experience in this area of the business.  Sir.

MR. RICK WEIL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  And thank you, Committee Members.  My name is Rick Weil and I’m the CEO of Sciplay.  I wish to provide comments and observations on Senate Bill 40.  This bill would establish a framework to authorize intrastate internet poker.  One of the most important aspects of the bill is the many safeguards that it calls upon to ensure the delivery of internet poker to the citizens of California in a safe and responsible manner. 

By way of background, my company, Sciplay, is a joint venture between Scientific Games Corporation and Playtech.  Sciplay was created to deliver the latest state of the art interactive technology to government sponsored and government regulated gaming operators.  Scientific Games is a global leader providing customized end-to-end gaming solutions to lottery and gaming organizations worldwide including, internet applications and server-based interactive gaming.  We operate in highly regulated environments that mandate the highest level of licensing and compliance.  Today Scientific Games has contracts to operate systems or provide gaming products to every U.S. lottery, as well as to lotteries and gaming operators in 50 countries on six continents.  Here in California, we are the primary printer of scratch off tickets to the California Lottery.  Our partner, Playtech, develops unified software platforms and content for online and land-based gaming.  Founded in 1999, Playtech operates in the business-to-business sector.  Playtech’s technology powers over 80 systems worldwide, including the world’s largest independent online poker network called the ipoker.com.  The combined experiences of Playtech and Scientific Games translates to more than 4,000 employees servicing almost 500 game clients and providing technology to more than 280 iGaming websites around the world.

SB 40 calls upon numerous responsible gaming best practices to ensure the delivery of internet poker in a safe and responsible manner.  Between Sciplay, Playtech, Scientific Games, and our partners, COPA, we have tremendous experience in this area and let me share a few examples today.

Age verification.  California is sensitive to the risk of underage gaming associated with internet poker.  SB 40 requires the implementation of effective age verification procedures.  A number of technologies that are routinely and successfully used to verify age in other industries, such as internet purchases of wineries, can be applied here and are used every single day.  Our primary method is verification against government and third-party commercial databases.  To establish an account, a registrant will be required to provide key pieces of identification information which will then be compared against existing comprehensive databases such as voter information, driver’s license data, social security information, to authenticate the identification and verify the registrant’s age.  In our world, this is not just a matter of jurisdictional regulations, it is a corporate mandate.  We require every new player to confirm that they are of legal age to play online games in their local jurisdiction.  To ensure this, our systems perform rigorous player credentials verification with the use of third-party age verification systems.  

Geo-location is an important issue.  Under SB 40, all internet poker transactions must originate and terminate within the boundaries of the state of California.  Today, with the emergences of sophisticated geo-location technologies, it is possible to quickly and accurately identify an internet user’s location by country, state, and city.  The most common approach is tied to identification of the user’s location by reference of their internet protocol or IP address.  A number of industries rely heavily upon the accuracy and reliability of geo-location technology to ensure their compliance and legal obligations.  For example; major league baseball broadcast full schedule live over the internet.  They rely on geo-location technology to honor its obligations to its TV broadcast rights holders.  

In our world, everything we do is gated by jurisdictional boundaries.  Scientific Games provides service to every U.S. lottery whose products are limited to their own states.  We employ geo-location technologies on behalf and support of other internet initiatives.  For example; for the Minnesota Lottery we provide an internet subscription service where people can buy internet lottery tickets on the web and that is only available to people in the state with local bank accounts and only while they are physically located in the state.

Responsible gaming and self-exclusion.  To protect California citizens from the potential harms of compulsive gaming on the internet, SB 40 specifically requires the adoption of self-exclusion programs whereby individuals may prohibit themselves from establishing an internet poker account or playing internet poker.  In the world of the internet it is relatively simple to identify and assist problem players.  The internet offers a simple and effective means of refusing play to individuals listed on a self-exclusion list.  Or moreover, individuals will be easily able to track their spending on poker to determine whether they wish to be placed on self-exclusion list.  In addition, we can set player limits on our product to control compulsive game play, fraud and money laundering.
Today, internet poker is prevalent in California even after Black Friday.  Despite being illegal and unregulated, as a result, California players are subject to fraud and theft, which occurs frequently at illegal offshore poker sites.  SB 40 authorizes California’s Department of Justice Bureau of Gambling Control to regulate and monitor online gaming operations.  When operating an internet poker network nothing is more important than integrity and player trust.  This is particularly focused in peer-to-peer games, such as poker, where the risk of player collusion is highest.  

At Sciplay, our approach _____________ our use of sophisticated monitoring technologies to identify threats and protect from fraud and money laundering.  These are supported by a dedicated security team on ensuring the business and infrastructure is at the forefront of industries best practices.

In conclusion, based on my experience, SB 40 will deliver new revenues to the state and new jobs to the economy.  In just our case alone we expect to employ over 100 IT professionals, many here in Sacramento, building upon our already existing data centers staff to support obligations to our operating partner, COPA.

Further, based on our worldwide experience, we are confident that SB 40 is structured in a fashion that ensures the highest industry standards for integrity and fair play for the California consumer.

Thank you.

SENATOR CORREA:  Mr. Chair, it would appear that we’re probably out of time so Mr. Forman …

SENATOR WRIGHT:  You get the last word.
SENATOR CORREA:  Mr. Forman, we’ll leave you up here, if we can, to answer any questions the Committee may have.  But let me just briefly conclude by ending at the beginning, which is to remind folks that time is not on our side.  The state of Nevada already has legislation signed in place, ahead of California again.  I just ask the Committee to consider keeping California as a can-do state in moving forward this year.  Mr. Chair.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.  What we’ll now do is go to questions from the Committee, if there are any.  I think Senator Hernandez had a question.

SENATOR ED HERNANDEZ:  Yes.  My question is to the author, Senator Correa.  I believe under your newest amendments a subcontractor cannot receive more than 12 percent of the gross revenues for providing software or other services; how did you arrive at this and then why is it necessary?  And I have a couple of other questions.

SENATOR CORREA:  Anybody here who would like to address that?

MR. KEITH SHARP:  Keith Sharp on behalf of COPA.  Senator Hernandez, one of the safeguards that Senator Correa sought to include in SB 40 was to ensure that as the commission, the department, as they vet operators, that indeed you know who you is dealing with.  Part of the historical basis of gambling in California is to ensure that you do full background checks and understand who you are dealing with; who’s profiting from gambling?  So what we didn’t want to happen, what Senator Correa didn’t want to happen was to have a transfer of profits or revenues to subcontractors basically having front man as operators and transferring the profits to unlicensed operators in effect.  As we surveyed the market and looked to see what was reasonable in terms of what vendors were paid in this environment and what have you, we landed at the 12 percent figure.  So again, to ensure that you don’t have, for example, a single operator who is taking five percent of the profits and paying 90 for five percent of the profits to a vendor who is not licensed to receive those profits.

SENATOR HERNANDEZ:  Have you based that on any kind of other national standards that have done in other similar states then?  I’m just curious how you just came up with 12 percent and why that’s …

MR. SHARP:  Well, I think we’ve had discussions with other—throughout this process as we’ve been having negotiations with our now partner, Sciplay and others, frankly, through the process in terms of what was the market price, if you will, for these kinds of services, it became clear to us that the 12 percent figure was at that point.

SENATOR CORREA:  And through the Chair; Mr. Hernandez, I have to tell you that there’s been a lot of work that’s gone into this bill as well as SB 45.  A lot of these experts reviewing things that have gone on not only around the world but in this country, so we’ve arrived at that number.  If you think that we should adjust that number, we’re more than happy to address your concerns.
SENATOR HERNANDEZ:  Okay.  I’ve got a couple of other follow-up questions.  I know that you’re going to be providing, or the state will be getting an initial         $250 million.  And correct me if I’m wrong, my understanding is, is this to get involved or is an initial 5 million that’s nonrefundable and then it’s split up equally amongst the other entities and if somebody drops out, those entities have to pick up the difference; is that correct?  So let’s say somebody does buy in.  They’re able to get a license.  How long are the internet licenses in place if they’re investing those kind of dollars?  Is this something that’s indefinite or is there a time period that they're allowed to have a license?

MR. GEORGE FORMAN:  Senator, there are two different upfront fees.  There is a $5 million application fee which is nonrefundable, and each applicant would be required to pay that fee and thus the regulators would not be out of pocket in processing the applications.  The regulatory process, the development of regulations, that sort of thing would be fully covered by the application fees.  There is a separate pre-payment of license fees of $50 million per applicant and if the aggregate of pre-paid license fees does not equal $250 million, then the successful applicants would make up the difference between their individual 50 millions and the total 250.  If there were later applicants that came in, if there were fewer than 5 licenses successfully issued, then those licensees would be given, essentially, exclusive rights until July 1, 2016, in order to recover the extra money that they would have to put up to get the state its upfront 250 million.  If there were later applicants coming in after the 30-day period, after the 90 days, after the emergency regulations are adopted, they would have to front $100 million in pre-paid license fees to the state.  So it’s a minimum guarantee to the state of 250 million.

SENATOR HERNANDEZ:  I guess my final question was how long is the internet license in place?

MR. FORMAN:  These licenses would be indefinite.  As long as …

SENATOR HERNANDEZ:  So whoever gets in on the ground floor will keep those indefinitely until they give them up and then once they give them up, at some later future time somebody else can come in?

MR. FORMAN:  Well, there is no limit on—ultimately, there is no limit on the number of licenses available.  One of the concerns that we heard during the last year and a half was that somehow we were creating a monopoly or excluding anybody.  And one of the ways we responded to those concerns was the bill has been amended to say that anybody who is a card club licensee, a tribe with a gaming ordinance, or otherwise eligible for licensure under the Gambling Control Act, is eligible to apply for and receive a license.  That was also a way to respond to the suggestion that somehow there was a violation of the Dormant Commerce Clause; by opening eligibility to anybody who could qualify under the Gambling Control Act there is no requirement of California residency to apply and get a license.  There is no requirement that you be an American citizen.  That you be an entity organized in California.  You simply have to be eligible for licensure under the Gambling Control Act and if you’re not a natural person, you have to be qualified—either organized in California or qualified to do business in California.

SENATOR HERNANDEZ:  Thank you.  One final question is the tribes that are going to be operating the internet poker sites; will they be waiving any of their sovereignty immunity from the state or any of their customers at all?

SENATOR CORREA:  As I mentioned in my opening statement; that is why—there has been testimony by witnesses no, no, no.

MR. FORMAN:  And Senator, if I might add; this is not on-reservation gaming.  This is off-reservation gaming conducted under state law through business entities operating under state law and regulated by state law.

SENATOR HERNANDEZ:  Thank you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Any further questions from the panel?  Are there witnesses in the audience who might want to testify?  I know Leslie Lohse had some comments.  I’m going to ask some of the witnesses, if you’d make room at the table.  

I want to recognize Jeff Grubbe from the Agua Caliente Band.  Is Mr. Grubbe around?  

SENATOR JOEL ANDERSON:  Mr. Chair.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Yes.

SENATOR ANDERSON:  Are we going to go in any kind of order in favor and opposed or is it just witnesses in general?

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Well, these are folk who have comments kind of in no particular order but comments about SB 40.

Let me do something.  Ms. Lohse, I’m going to ask you to move over.  Mr. Correa, in case you need it, I’m going to leave that seat for you—no, you stay.  You don’t get to sit down.  But in case you have one of your witnesses you’d like to have that chair—I want to leave that one open.

SENATOR CORREA:  It’s not like my spouse.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  But for your convenience, if you have someone who needs that chair, that one’s available for you.

Ms. Lohse, welcome aboard.

MS. LESLIE LOHSE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and Honorable Members of the Committee and the staff.  Thank you for being here and allowing me to speak today.  Yes, I am Leslie Lohse.  I’m the vice-chair of the California Tribal Business Alliance.  And with me today is Joe Webster.  He’s an attorney for the Lytton Band of Pomo Indians, who is one of our member tribes of the California Tribal Business Alliance along with the Pala Band of Mission Indians.

CTBA has been established to enhance our businesses but also and foremost is to protect our inherent rights as tribal governments and we work diligently to do so.
And we thank you, Chairman Wright, for your diligent work on this issue and the time you’ve dedicated to this.  And I appreciate, again, the opportunity to speak at, as you said, yet another hearing. 
CTBA believes that intrastate internet gaming or internet gaming itself, does have the potential to bring revenues to tribal governments to continue our growth and our development as governments in protecting our people and addressing our needs and issues.  But what we find is that some of the authorizing bills have not been structured correctly.  And in particular, SB 40 falls way short of that mark.  
CTBA has listed a list of principles that we are adhering to and believe must be incorporated and addressed into any bill, whether it be on the federal level or the state level.  I believe those principles have been handed out to you in a packet.  And these principles were at the center of my testimony back in February of 2010; the first legislative hearing in the country convened on internet gaming.  And they’ve been at the centerpiece of many of the conferences that I’ve spoken at, and in our articles that CTBA has contributed to, whether they be in magazines or newspapers.  We’re very committed to those principles.  They are key; they are the backbone of tribal governments and should be recognized as such.  
Conversely, CTBA believes that if SB 40 or any authorizing bill does not incorporate these principles, it could do and would do irreparable harm to our economies and will undermine the policies and agreements that are critical to tribal self-reliance and agreements that we already have with our local communities and the state.

Before Mr. Webster speaks to those most critical issues that concern CTBA and Lytton, I’d like to impress upon this esteemed committee that CTBA looks at intrastate internet gaming from two perspectives; from a business perspective, as we all must, but yet also from a tribal government perspective.  On the business side, we’ve heard a great deal about how the benefits can be realized from authorized internet gaming but we still have a lot of unanswered questions regarding the true costs and practicalities of implementing it.

First, can the regulatory scheme be implemented within 90 days after the enactment of the bill?  The Department of Justice, I believe, was before this Committee and said, “I don’t think so.”  That’s a very rosy optimistic view, that we could actually do that.  I’ve spoken to them personally.  They are already stretched in covering their responsibilities as they are.  And even at that, they said 18 to 24 months is the best that they could guess.  
So regulatory issues are what the Senator says; the protection of the consumer is most important here.  So I don’t really think 90 days, obviously, is enough time for the DOJ or anyone to create regulations to address the numerous issues that have been and could be on the horizon for internet gaming.

So that’s why we ask you to be very deliberate in looking at any authorization.

Who will provide this regulatory oversight then?  Does the state have the expertise to regulate gaming on the internet or will it have to outsource this responsibility?  And, what will that cost be to California?

What is the true impact to existing brick-and-mortar casinos?  Proponents say, “No, there’s no cannibalizing.  Nothing is going on.  The internet gaming people, they’re a distinct group.  They don’t visit the casinos. ”  Well, since Black Friday, Gray Friday, whatever you want to call it, casinos have seen, in poker play and tournament play, a rise of 15 and 20 percent, respectively.  So it’s clear that the authorization of internet poker will impact brick-and-mortar casinos.
Further, with the selection process of licensees and operators, rather than using a process that is based on technical, legal and financial qualifications, the bill is still crafted to benefit a select group.  I know it was stated that this is not a select group, but yet it’s the same group that Mr. Forman indicated, “we have now taken care of the monopoly issues.”  So I guess we were right; it was a monopoly issue at the beginning for them.  
And then we were told that there were offers given to other tribes, to other card rooms.  Well, the thing is, I’ve said it before many times, I’m one of 14 children.  I don’t fall to peer pressure and our tribes don’t either.  And the cost of taking that piece of candy to get in the car to go down the road; you don’t know what the cost will be ultimately for taking that little sweet thing and jumping in.  So relook at it very diligently.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  I’m going to ask you to wrap up.

MS. LOHSE:  Sure.  No problem.  The prepaid licensing fee—the big issue here is they say there is $250 million will be the windfall for this current budget, but in the outlying years there will be no benefit to the state.  The operator will be drawing down on those prepaid fees.  There will be no revenue scored in the next several budgets.  This is fiscally imprudent.

And on the government side; we continue to say that every decision that we make today impacts us far into the future; far beyond what we are talking about today.  There are lobbyists, vendors, they look at solely from the business part, well that’s fine, but they make their money and move on.  

Over the weekend I read a statement that attributed to one senator which read, “Internet gaming is like the rush for gold.”  Are we so far removed from that time that we’ve forgotten what the gold rush did to our people?

As tribal governments, we’re here to stay.  And with this thought and the history in the back of our minds, and how our decisions today will impact our commitments to the future, it’s why we believe there is no need to rush into this.  We must examine it carefully.  
The budget has been passed in California.  Even if it was late, it’s been passed so where is the urgency?  I’ve not seen the proof that there is an urgency without proper due diligence in looking at the regulatory scheme, the tax scheme, and will it really generate revenue and at what cost?  Because the tribes are willing—that have their compacts, that say that they’re going to be paying and that there will be a breach, will pull back the over $365 million.

Thank you, Sir.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.  I’m going to ask witnesses to make it an average of about 5 minutes for testimony.  You were Ms. Lohse, so I’m going to move to the next witness.

MR. BARRY BROKAW:  Mr. Chairman, Members, Barry Brokaw on behalf of the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians.  We have our vice-chairman here, Mr. Jeff Grubbe.  He’s going to make some comments about SB 40 and SB 45 as well.  So,   Mr. Vice-Chairman.

MR. JEFF GRUBBE:  Thank you.  Good morning, Chairman and Members.  Since my initial election in 2006, I have served as vice-chairman of the Tribal Council under Chairman Milanovich.  The Chairman is travelling out of state and expresses his regrets to the Committee for not being here with you today.

On behalf of our council, and Councilmember Vincent Gonzalez III is here with me, I appreciate the opportunity to discuss our views on Senator Correa’s SB 40 and your bill as well, Mr. Chairman.

We would like to see California act on the subject of intrastate internet gaming before the federal level does so, but based on a careful assessment, that of our representatives on the ground and our conversations with policymakers at the U.S. Capitol, we foresee no successful federal action on this front in either 2011 or 2012.  We believe you have the time to carefully construct a proposal.  We urge you to take the time to get it right.
As to our specific views, the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians will oppose SB 40 and SB 45 or any other intrastate internet gaming proposal that will come before the 2011/2012 legislative session unless the bill encompasses all of the following six components:

1.  Intrastate internet gaming must be limited to poker only.  We believe going beyond that would seriously impact tribal casino operations and could threaten the exclusivity provisions of our compact with the state.  Poker itself might even trigger an exclusivity challenge and that ground is uncertain.  This could have serious implications for the state General Fund and the 364 million annually the state receives from the compacted tribes.

2. Internet gaming must be open to all entities currently licensed to conduct poker card games in bricks-and-mortar gaming facilities within the state of California.

3. No participating entity should be allowed to have a monopoly under any internet gaming scheme, either through an artificially established hub limit or through a licensed fee or an advance deposit fee that is so costly that it effectively shuts off participation.

Indeed, under the current version of SB 40 beyond the $5 million initial registration fee, applicants would have to pay $50 million within 30 days of the start of the program, or $100 million if the application for the licensing comes after the initial 30 days to be credited against future license fee payments.  The bill now also provides a potential 4-year exclusive license monopoly if there are limited applicants and additional deposit fees are required in order to achieve an initial depository fund of $250 million.

4. Offshore or international entities seeking to enter the California internet gaming market should not be allowed to operate within the state unless they are partnered with eligible entities.  There must be no ability for the operators of internet gaming sites to partner silently with entities that would be ineligible to otherwise be partners in the venture.  However, this provision needs to be written carefully in order to not severely limit the ability or eligible entities to choose vendors.  SB 40 appears to have been written with specific companies or individuals in mind in an attempt to prohibit such entities from playing a role, however minor, in online gaming in California.

5. State revenues required of internet poker should not exceed the levels necessary to establish a credible and safe alternative to illegal offshore internet gaming sites.  The 10 percent collected from players and paid quarterly to the state, as the Correa bill would require, may be excessive.

6. Lastly, California legislation must clearly state the intention of the state to opt out of any federal internet gaming legislation.

Absent all of these concerns being satisfactorily addressed, we will strongly oppose any bill to authorize intrastate internet poker in California.  We look forward to working with you to see if we can find greater consensus among the tribes and other interested parties on these core points to allow us to move carefully forward together.


Thank you.


MR. SANFORD MILLAR:  Mr. Chairman, I’m Sanford Millar.  I’m a certified specialist in taxation law and chair-elect to the State Bar Tax Policy and Procedure Committee.  I’m here today, as I was a year ago in February, testifying on tax issues among others, relating to the Correa bill and SB 40 and SB 45.  
I have already distributed to the committee members a position paper on the alternative methodologies that can be employed with respect to tax collections on internet gaming companies and I am not going to reiterate those positions.

I hope the Committee will take the time and consider those positions alternatively and come to the correct conclusion.  It seems to me based upon the analysis that we’ve done, that the deposit method is preferable to the gross gaming revenue method for purposes of tax collection.  
As somebody who was involved as an operator within the state of California, I’m prepared to answer any questions with respect to specific operations on the internet gaming side in terms of any of the players security or integrity issues or the effect of offshore competition.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Hold on just a second.  Senator Calderon.

SENATOR RON CALDERON:  Yes, I had a question before we go any further.  Vice-Chairman Grubbe, you didn’t mention anything in regards to Vice-Chairman Lohse’s concerns about 90-day implementation; is that not one of your conditions?  Is that not a problem for you?

MR. BROKAW:  Mr. Chairman, Barry Brokaw on behalf of Agua Caliente; we were talking about the essential components of a bill that we think ought to be in place.  There are other smaller issues, but the Vice-Chairman was hitting on the key elements.  Obviously, that 90 …

SENATOR CALDERON:  Are you united on the 90-day implementation issue?

MR. BROKAW:  The 90-day period is a short period of time.  That’s something that we think can be addressed easily.  We were trying to hit the core components of the bill—what we thought should be in it.

SENATOR CALDERON:  And in turn, Madam Vice-Chair, are you also endorsing or supporting the six conditions that Vice-Chairman Grubbe just outlined?

MS. LOHSE:  Yes, they make the same issues that we do—that have with it.

SENATOR CALDERON:  Thank you.

MR. JOSEPH WEBSTER:  Mr. Chairman, I also would like to clarify, although Lytton is a member of CTBA, I’m actually here to present testimony specific for the Lytton Band, if that’s permissible.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.

MR. WEBSTER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee.  My name is Joseph Webster.  I’m a partner with the law firm of Hobbs, Straus, Dean & Walker in Washington, D.C.  I have represented Indian tribal governments on gaming issues for over 15 years.  Today I have been asked by the Lytton Rancheria, which operates a small Class-2 gaming facility in San Pablo, California, to provide comments related to SB 40 and SB 45.

As noted previously, some of Lytton’s concerns are detailed in principles and also in a May 10, 2011 letter on SB 40 from the California Tribal Business Alliance, of which Lytton is a member.  Despite a series of recent amendments to SB 40, most of those concerns with the bill remain.  In addition, many of the concerns are also applicable to SB 45.

Rather than repeat all the issues identified in the May 10th letter, I would like to take just a couple of minutes to elaborate on three of the most significant issues which apply to both bills.

First:  The need to expressly prohibit any form of internet gaming café.  Neither SB 40 nor SB 45 would appear to prohibit the proliferation of internet gaming cafes.  For example, SB 40 only refers to prohibiting public or private facilities that offer internet poker as their primary purpose.  There is no explanation in the bill about how this would be determined or who would determine it.  It is critical, we believe, to have a clear prohibition against internet gaming terminals being made available at any place of public accommodation.  Lytton is concerned that without such a prohibition, an internet gaming bill could have the unintended consequence of allowing hundreds or even thousands of internet gaming cafes, similar to the proliferation of so-called charity bingo halls a few years ago.

Second:  Use of entertaining displays.  Lytton believes that any internet gaming bill must be limited to poker.  However, even if the underlying game is limited to poker, it is necessary to prohibit creative game designers from designing games where the outcomes from one or more hands of poker or the redemption of winnings from such games are depicted using entertaining displays such as video or mechanical slot reels.  Neither SB 40 nor SB 45 addresses this issue.  Without an express prohibition it is conceivable that games that look and play like slot machines could be offered under an authorization for internet poker, especially in the absence of any prohibition against internet gaming cafes.
Third:  Tribes should not be subject to state taxes on internet gaming.  Though the terminology used in the bills differs, effectively both bills would attempt to tax tribal gaming.  Taxing tribal government gaming is contrary to federal law and policy that tribal governments are not taxable entities.  However, to the extent that non-Indian competition is limited, it may be possible to develop a framework where tribes agree to pay the state for exclusivity or substantial exclusivity as to Class-2 poker conducted via the internet. However, this sort of arrangement will take time to develop and likely would need to be vetted with appropriate federal officials at the Interior Department and the Federal National Indian Gaming Commission.  Obviously, due to the great importance of this issue to both the state and tribes, it is worth taking the time to get this legislation right.

In conclusion, there is no reason to rush this legislation.  Some comments were made about federal legislation and how it may be imminent.  Certainly there are different views on this but from our perspective it seems frankly unlikely with everything else that’s going on in Washington, D.C. this session; the internet gaming bill is likely to pass.  So we think there is time.  And so we think it’s important to take the time to make sure that any internet gaming bill is carefully crafted to ensure that it truly meets the needs of the state while also protecting existing tribal gaming operations and respecting tribal sovereignty.

Thank you for your consideration of the Lytton Rancheria’s concerns on this important issue.  And, of course, I would be happy to answer any questions.

SENATOR CORREA:  Through the Chair, if I may; I wanted to clarify to Vice-Chair Grubbe, that the $50 million is to be paid by the time the site goes live, not before that.
SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  Other witnesses?  If these witnesses would make room, I think we have other people wishing to testify.

MR. DAVID QUINTANA:  David Quintana here on behalf of—on this issue, you’ve heard from the California Tribal Business Alliance and the tribes within the California Tribal Business Alliance, I’d also like to add the opposition of the Habematolel Pomo of Upper Lake and the Picayune Rancheria, the Chukchansi Indians, both with very strong opposition to this bill, SB 40.
Just a couple of quick points:  One, I wanted to make sure that I addressed one of the previous witnesses who wanted to point out that COPA very generously and magnanimously offered us the opportunity to be part of their group.  As you know, I think the majority of gaming tribes have decided not to take that opportunity because we just happen to believe that we might be able to put our business plan together ourselves.  So I think their witnesses went on to continue to state “the tribes, the tribes.”  Again, I want to make clear, most of the major gaming tribes are not a part of that organization and we are seeking our own business plans and our own route to this industry.

Additionally, there will be job protection issues.  And the job protection issues are going to be protecting the jobs at our casinos.  By rushing this through without ensuring that this does not affect sovereignty and our brick-and-mortar facilities, the only jobs that are going to be affected are the jobs that are going to be lost at our casinos and for most of the tribes that I represent, those are labor jobs.  Those either with HERE or with CWA, so those are good labor jobs that are put at risk by this legislation if we continue to act as if there is a fire and we need to put it out and we need to jam this through.
Finally, what I want to say is every time we see amendments, the proponents put amendments forward and say, “Oh, we fixed this; we fixed that.”  I am glad that they have admitted that it was previously a monopoly but I think what they’re still doing is continuing to play hide the monopoly game.  And every time we get amendments we have to search through and where did they put the monopoly this time?  So as long as that remains there, this is something that we will not and cannot support.

Finally, again, there is no rush.  We’re seeing that nothing is happening at the DC level.  Let’s take the time.  Maybe sit down and actually try come to an agreement and work out something out with both of the bills. 

Thank you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.

MS. CAROLYN BEAL-HUNTER:  Mr. Chairman and Members, Carolyn Beal-Hunter on behalf of the Yocha Dehe Wintun Nation, formerly the Rumsey Band of Wintun Indians.  I certainly underscore the comments made by Mr. Quintana and the California Tribal Business Alliance representative.  And we continue to be opposed to SB 40 in spite of the most recent round of amendments.  Yocha Dehe believes that   SB 40 continues to violate the exclusivity rights granted it in its tribal state compact.  We are also concerned about the regulatory landscape embodied in this bill, especially as it’s been modified to promulgate emergency regulations which may lead to greater uncertainty as it relates to the rights for exclusivity.
Yocha Dehe urges this Committee to respect and protect the exclusivity provisions of its compact and continue to oppose SB 40 in this effort.

Thank you.

MS. PAULA TREAT:  Mr. Chair, Mr. Vice-Chair, Members of the Committee, Paula Treat on behalf of the Pechanga Band of Luiseno Mission Indians.  We would echo a lot of the statements made by these other tribal members and tribal representatives who have grave concerns over this going forward right now.  Pechanga is not against internet poker.  It does not believe that this, or SB 45, with all due respect, are the right vehicles as written right now.  So we would ask you to thoroughly look at the questions that the tribal leaders have brought up.  As           Mr. Quintana said, this is not a unanimous go ahead with tribes deal.  It actually has a lot of concerns by major groups.  Pechanga is the second largest employer in Riverside County and I care about those 5,000 plus jobs a lot more than the dangling candy as Ms. Lohse said.

Thank you.

MR. JAMES BUTLER:  Mr. Chair, Members of the Committee, Reverend James Butler from the California Coalition Against Gambling Expansion.  As we’ve testified before, we oppose this bill because it will result in an unprecedented expansion of gambling in California.  I’ve testified to that in the past and I’ll simply refer to that instead of reiterating it at this point.  Mr. Chair, if you want more, I can certainly provide it.

One of the stated purposes of this bill is to provide protection for those who are currently using the internet to gamble on sites that are not authorized, that you even referred to as “illegal sites,” and I concur.  However, this bill also has a section within it that establishes criteria to control that, including confiscation of money and fines for those who chose to gamble on sites that are not authorized.  I would suggest that we might consider enacting that section only to show that we actually have the ability to control elements of the internet in that way before we unleash the internet upon our state.

And finally, I want to focus on the other stated purpose of trying to regulate this gambling enterprise and provide at the same time, protection for those who are participating.  

I would suggest that if we truly are serious about trying to regulate this that we ask for more than simply a name, address, and age, and possibly social security numbers to verify.  
I think that we should ask for all of that and much, much more.  We live in a community property state and perhaps when you register to play, it should include the simple fact that your spouse is consenting to your participation, for your spouse will be obligated financially for your losses.  
I think that we should provide positive and affirmative declarations that the participant is current with childcare payments and current with alimony. 
I think that we should not ask the citizens of California to pay for someone’s gambling enterprise by simply affirming—having the player affirm that they do not receive any California social assistance, included but not limited to welfare, MediCal, unemployment, AFEC, CalWorks, supplemental nutritional assistance programs, Women, Infant and Children’s program, SSI, state supplementary, CalFresh, in-home services, general relief and more.

We know that in the past the state has been able to limit how money provided by the state is utilized when it was discovered that some of the assistant debit cards were being used at casinos.  We know that it is possible to be done.  I’m suggesting that if we think that it’s alright for people to choose to gamble, then do not ask the citizens of California to assume that responsibility for them or to fund their enterprise.

This bill gives the option of establishing pre-determined limits.  This should be a requirement.  And there should be a predetermined maximum.  Not just that you could only lose 100 or 200 depending on whatever you might choose within a timeframe, but rather, when you register, say how much can I afford to lose, period.  Put a maximum.  When that is reached, then they are simply not able to use any internet sites in California that are authorized, and, of course, the unauthorized ones will be unavailable to them as well.  It would be great if we could include those in the brick-and-mortar casinos but I’m not certain we have that capability.

We have been told that the internet will allow greater assistance for those who are having problems with gambling by being able to identify them.  I’m saying rather than make these as options, if you choose to go forward and unleash this expansion of gambling, which will simply provide a poker parlor onto every Smart Phone, in every dorm room, and every home, and every business, and probably be required to be available at public libraries, that we put in those regulatory safeguards that will truly offer the protections that seem to be part its purpose.  

Thank you very much.

MR. JOHN NORWOOD:  Mr. Chairman and Members, John Norwood appearing today on behalf of Churchill Downs, Incorporated.  When people think about Churchill Downs they think about a horse race but, in fact, Churchill Downs, through twinspires.com, headquartered right here in Mountain View, California, operates the largest legal internet gaming business in the country.  Twin Spires takes in over    $800 million in horse racing wagers annually and it is either licensed or authorized to do business in 38 states.  Our client has a long history in the gaming business and looks forward to participating in an internet gaming legislation in California if it’s authorized on the intrastate basis.

I want to say at the outset, we’re in favor of establishing an open and competitive internet poker regulatory scheme where companies, like Churchill Downs, can compete to obtain a license for internet poker.  In our opinion across the globe, markets that have legalized and regulated internet gaming in a way that they have developed an open architecture have prospered while those that have tried to limit consumer choice have not done as well.

We have, as you know, participated in prior hearings not only on this subject matter, but on the working groups.  We’ve discussed this legislation with the authors and their staffs at length.  And we’ve tried to withhold taking positions on any bills up until this point and watched these bills develop.  

At this point, unfortunately, with regard to SB 40, we could not support this bill unless it is amended.  Despite the amendments recently taken, this bill is still limited to eligibility for a license to California card rooms and federally recognized tribal casinos.  Essentially under this bill, if you’re a card room or an Indian tribe and have $50 million, you’re deemed suitable—nobody else need to apply.  Moreover, when you really look at this bill and examine it a little bit closer, it really narrows it down to a few small entities.  
Under this bill, if you’re not one of the first five applicants to apply for a license, the license fees increase from $50 million to $100 million and your application will be delayed, placing a later entrant at a huge competitive disadvantage.  It will make it almost impossible to compete.  It’s also unclear how any of the first five licenses will be allotted if, for example, there are ten licensees that apply within the first 30 days.  
Under SB 40 there is no RFP process or required qualifications other than being a card room or Indian tribe and having $50 million.  Current operators of card rooms and federally recognized Indian tribes are deemed suitable for licensure and can be licensed immediately.  There’s no requirements to demonstrate technical expertise, financial solvency; no requirement to present a plan of operation that will ensure that the state and consumers are protected with regard to integrity of the game, transparency, security, data protection, or a host of other concerns.  There’s no requirement that the company itself, your officers, your board of directors, your subcontractors go through background checks and other protections that deem you suitable to operate in California.
As I’ve indicated, Churchill Downs is willing to support expansion of internet gaming to poker and other games but in order to do so ADW licensees must be placed on an equal playing, from an eligibility standpoint, to obtain a license to operate internet poker.  Given the current operations of our client, Churchill Downs is arguably one of the most qualified companies in the state or anywhere else to be licensed to operate internet poker, yet we’re excluded from this legislation.

In addition, I think SB 40 needs to be amended to either eliminate what amounts to a de-facto cap on the first five licensees or to add some type of RFP process where the first five or the most qualified five licensees are given a license.  Our preference in that regard would be to just eliminate a cap.  We’re opposed to artificial caps on the number of licensees.  We think the market should choose winners and losers and not the Legislature.
Lastly, the $50 million license fee required by SB 40, in our view, is excessive and it should be substantially reduced.  

We certainly look forward to continue to work with both authors.  We commend both the authors for taking on such a difficult task and hope, at some point, to be able to support one or both bills.

Thank you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.  It’s probably timely.  This is the GO Committee.  I’m looking in the audience and I see a gentleman I met at Hollywood Park years ago—trainer, owner, a horse person extraordinaire, Mr. Bafford, who is in our audience.  Those of you who don’t know, he’s probably won several Kentucky Derbies and a few of the Belmonts.  Bob Bafford, welcome to the California State Legislature. 

Senator Correa, you get the last word.

SENATOR CORREA:  Sir, I believe there’s still more people to testify in support or identify themselves—a few others.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  If they would identify themselves for the record.

MR. NELSON PINOLA:  Yes.  I’m Nelson Pinola.  I’m the chairman of the Manchester Band of Pomo Indians.

MR. DALE MILLER:  Dale Miller, chairman of Elk Valley Rancheria.

MR. JOSPEH PENDLETON:  Chairman of the __________ Band of Cahuilla. 

MR. BERNIE POLLACK:  Bernie Pollack ___________ Reservation.
UNIDENTIFIED:  _______________

MR. MILLER:  Mr. Wright, can you hear me?

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Yes.

MR. MILLER:  I’d just like to say, Elk Valley Rancheria strongly supports SB 40 for a lot of reasons.  For me, it’s a no brainer thing.  I’m one of those tribes that don’t have that $50 million that the gentleman was just talking about but we still support this for tribes and for the state of California.  For us it’s a no brainer.  It’s a good thing for everybody.  And we need to work it out somehow.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you. 
MR. PINOLA:  Again, I’m Nelson Pinola.  I’m the tribal chairman with the Manchester Band of Pomo Indians.

There’s been much said here today about the tribes and what the tribes’ wishes are.  However, I think that a lot is not being addressed and that has to do with small tribes like mine.  I say small because we’re not a large gaming tribe.  We entered into gaming within the last 90 days.  We have less than 200 machines on our floor so we are in no way a major player.  But we are, however, a tribe of 1,200 members here in the state of California.  We have come here and we are supporting SB 40 for many reasons.  One of those is that we have heard much about exclusivity issues and we have also looked at these same things and we do not believe that that is really an issue here.  The issue is actually who is going to control this.  And I think that it is incumbent upon all of us to decide that it is not setting somebody’s own realm.  There is not a monopoly here.  
I think that the proponents behind SB 40 have gone out of their way in the last two years to get 29 tribes to the table to support this.  We weren’t sitting here.  Nobody came and offered me a piece of candy.  Nobody offered me a piece of silver jewelry or a mirror to look at myself to be here.  I’m here because this bill in its current form has been amended several times.  This bill is one that would be beneficial to my people and to other smaller tribes who could not be here today.  I find no irony in the fact that we’re talking about how it’s going to be damaging for the brick-and-mortar facilities.  
And we just heard, and the Committee heard, and the honorable members here heard, that at least one casino has seen an upswing or increase of maybe 15 percent in their gaming.  If that’s the case, then they were doing exceptionally well despite the fact that poker was already being played, so I think that really, to me, as a tribal leader, demonstrates that they were able to put their facility up and do extremely well despite what they’re claiming would now be a hardship.  So I don’t think you can have that both ways.
The other thing is that again, there will be no perfect bill.  I think this body understands that.  We have many bills that are sitting out there.  One of them I can point to right now is the Medical Marijuana Act, where we put this out here to be compassionate to help members of our society and yet we have issues that we can come back and debate.  I mean there are laws on our books right now that are constantly being amended, being upgraded and all that.  So I would like to just say I support SB 40.

And I thank you.
SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.

UNIDENTIFIED:  Ho.  Ho.  _____________ (spoken in native Indian language).  Thank you, Nelson Pinola.  _________(spoken in native Indian language)  Thank you friends from California.  Thank you, visitors from California.  I thank you for being better friends than England and Russia, Spain and Mexico.  And I ask you not to impede on our tribal sovereignty for our pursuit of happiness.  We chose to enter an agreement with our friends.  And from our point of view, we see the state of California impeding on our sovereignty.  And I’d like to remind the other tribes that no matter what happens, that all of our sovereignty will be taxed.  
So, that’s all I have to say.  
SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.

MR. WILL MICKLIN:  My name is Will Micklin.  I’m CEO for the Ewiiaapaayp Band of Kumeyaay Indians.  I’m representing today, Chairman Robert Pinto, Sr.,   Vice-Chairman Michael Garcia, who are engaged in other meetings in southern California.  The Ewiiaapaayp Indian Reservation is located in east San Diego County and we are well represented by our friend, the Honorable Senator Joe Anderson.  
The Ewiiaapaayp Band of Kumeyaay Indians is in support of SB 40.  And we’ve worked cooperatively over, I think it’s approaching almost a year and a half or two years now, with Senator Correa and the Morongo Band of Mission Indians and Chairman Martin.  And our view is that—and what we’ve seen in participating in the COPA (California Online Poker Association) is the doors to that organization have always been open.  And there’s been an open invitation to every interest to come in and help perfect the bill.  We think that there’s been a lot of work in making that bill better and there’s probably still some work that can be done.  And we are eager to work with Senator Wright, Chairman of the Senate GO Committee and the members of the committee, to make that a better bill.   

We thank you for the opportunity to address you today.  Thank you, Chairman. 

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.

MR. JOSEPH HAMILTON:  Good morning, Senators.  I’m Chairman Joseph Hamilton.  I’m with the Band of Cahuilla in eastern Riverside County.  We’re in support of SB 40 because it keeps the protection of tribal sovereign rights and protects consumers in California.  The capabilities and the industry of gaming in California is a plus for this bill.  That’s why we support it also.  And keep business in California.

Thank you very much.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.  Senator Correa, you get the last word.

SENATOR CORREA:  I just wanted to have the Committee listen very carefully.  There was one common thread throughout the opposition which was advantage versus disadvantage; whose advantage and whose disadvantage?  If we don’t act now, all of California entities will be disadvantaged.  The question is are you willing to bet     $250 million—better yet, 1.6 billion over ten years on that question?  That is why I believe we need to act this year on these measures.  

Thank you very much.

SENATOR ANDERSON:  Mr. Chair, when you’re ready to proceed.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  I wanted to do just a couple of things.  As has already been discussed, I’ve been working on online gaming for a while.  I’ve studied some of the best practices in Europe, in Asia, and parts in between.  I’d like to say too that if you get to travel, there’s some great food in some of those places and great wine, so while you’re there you might take advantage of some of those things that you might find.  But what I’ve attempted to do is look at what I would call the best practices around the world where I’ve seen legal online gaming played and then try to see what of those things would be adaptable to California.  
Let me say again, that this is an evolving process, and this bill is evolving, and the issue is evolving.  Aside from our advance deposit wagering, we don’t currently have a legal internet business in California.  So technically, we are all learning as we go.  What I’d like to do today is reflect where I think we should be going, taking into account our past successes and our failures.  And, ladies and gentlemen, we have had some failures here in California.

When I first began to discuss internet gaming nearly all of the incumbent gaming interests were opposed.  I’m happy to see now, that there is a discussion from people are on both sides because I felt like the Lone Ranger for a good year and a half, where everybody was telling me I was a damn fool for bringing up the subject in the first place.  I even had people who objected to the fact that we were going to hold the first hearing, and then people objected to the people who were selected to be witnesses at the first hearing.  So we’re making a little bit of headway because at least now we’re able to have hearings and listen to the discussion.  But I want to make clear of something else; SB 45 is my work product.  It’s not a sponsored bill.  What you see on paper, what you’ve seen presented, is my work.  That doesn’t mean that I have not listened to a number of people, again, from around the world.  But what you see in SB 45 is what I stand behind because it’s mine.  I worked on it.  I looked at it.  And the final decision for everything that you see in it was made by me.  So when you hear me talking about SB 45, it reflects what I believe to be in the best interest of Californians. 

Now again, I’ve received a great deal of input and I’ve listened to all of that.  But I want to say something again that is probably a little different than some of my colleagues; I believe that as a state senator in the state of California—and I’m going to say this a couple of times—I have a fiduciary obligation to the citizens of California, and no group in particular, to provide the greatest amount of value that I can for an asset that belongs to the state.  
The authority to do internet gaming came to California because of the Unlawful Internet Gaming Enforcement Act of 2006 (UIGEA).  UIGEA prevents anyone from accepting payments for bets or wagers that involve the use of the internet and that it is unlawful under state and federal law.  However, UIGEA specifically authorizes states to permit intrastate gaming online that would be under state regulations.  

UIGEA is totally separate from the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, or, IGRA.  IGRA authorizes gaming on Indian lands only.  UIGEA specifically says “you can’t.”  And I want to make clear that distinction because there seems to be a misunderstanding about what it does and doesn’t do.  
UIGEA says there is no provision for there to be Indian gaming off Indian land pursuant to UIGEA and the internet.  IGRA says that you can have Indian gaming on Indian land and it specifies how that goes.  But one of the most important and guiding principles in this discussion, again, is that UIGEA provided a valuable asset to the state of California.  It’s a franchise that we own.  The citizens are the entitled owners of the asset called “internet gaming.”  And I want to make that clear because I’ve heard people discussing what should be done for this group or that group.  You know what?  I really don’t give a damn.  So I’m clear:  I am only concerned about my fiduciary obligation to the citizens of the state of California, period.  I’m not trying to resolve a whole lot of other folks’ issues.  And I recognize that there have been some challenges.  But this federal statute grants a franchise to the people of the state of California and that’s what I’m concerned about and that’s what we’ll address.  Again, I have a fiduciary obligation to the citizens of California to maximize this asset.  And this is the principle that has guided me on every deliberation that I’ve had about internet gaming.
So, to all the people who said that they’d like a piece of the action and whatever that is in the secondary pieces and all those things, I’m only looking at maximizing the asset value to the people of the state of California.  And importantly, I think that the revenue from this should end up in the treasury of the state of California.

We’ve made a number of changes and we’re making more and some of them aren’t written yet because we’re still in kind of a slow period in legislation.
One of the things that’s important if you said to me today, “What’s the value of this asset?” anybody who can tell you with certainty what the value is had to make it the hell up because nobody knows.  Typically in a situation where you have an asset where you don’t know the value, you hold an auction and you say, “Tell me what you’ll bid me for it;” that’s what it’s worth because that’s what someone will pay.  After discussions with a number of people—and in my first draft you might recall we were looking at an RFP process where we were going to limit the number of sites and then say, “You’ll just do an RFP to bid to see who won the sites.”  After a number of hours of study let me say that we’re going to eliminate the RFP process that I mentioned and we’re also going to eliminate the limit on the number of hubs.  

So what is the new format we’re proposing?  We will establish a non-refundable license fee currently estimated to be somewhere in the $20- to $30 million range.  This fee would be decremented against future revenues and the future revenues would be derived from the proceeds of the games themselves, much as is now done in our card rooms.  Again, we’ll have to keep in mind that California law, the Constitution in this instance, does not allow us to take a percentage nor can we house bank the game.  So again, we’ll have to create a scheme that allows us to drive revenue on a “per hand” or a “per time” basis that would be legal under the Constitution.

But we have another challenge, Members, that I think is important.  We also have to make sure that the games that we set and the fees that we set don’t overcharge.  And the reason that this is important is when I was in Europe there is a site that is called, “superrakeback.com” and what that site does is it measures the cost of playing on all of the sites around the world and if your sites cost too much, even though we intend to make it illegal to play those sites, you will not get the business back that you would hope to get because people will look at the lower cost site and go there.

Another advantage that I believe that occurs with this particular regime is that the upfront revenue reduces the risk to the people of the state of California.  Because I believe that if I’m holding your $25- to $30 million that you have an incentive to work hard to see that you can get your money back.  I initially had concerns when we were first beginning about liquidity and whether or not there would be too many sites that would drain liquidity and thus cause everybody to lose money.  But what I now have seen in studying particularly some of the sites in Europe is that what will occur is that weaker sites, the weaker operators will simply be weeded out.  That means that they’ll put up their money and they’ll lose.  That’s not my problem.  The smarter sites will band together and will probably have partnerships that will make them stronger entities and they’ll be the ones that survive.  I see no more than six to eight sites, maximum, in California and all of the information that I have been able to review would suggest that the liquidity pool in California can support six to eight sites.  The challenge will be to make sure that the upfront fee is high enough not to discourage serious players, but is serious enough to attract serious players who are interested in running an honest game.  

Now the parochial view would be to say, “Well, I’m going to limit my competitors to a chosen few.”  The problem that I see with this is that again, it shifts the risk back to the state.  There’s an old expression that is used in my neighborhood by domino players and it says, “All money ain’t good money.”  So the fact that you may get what you think is a lot of money upfront, you have no way of determining whether or not that’s a good sum or a bad sum because you don’t have anything to measure it against.  The question that we would say if this was jazz concert would be compared to what?  And since you don’t have anything to compare it too, is 100 good; is 200 good?  You know what; you’ll never know.  All you really know is that you want honest business people playing an honest game and at that point if it works, then you’ll make the money that you’re supposed to get.  But it’s very important that you have honest people playing and that you haven’t approached that reduces the level of risk to the people of the state of California.  Having a diverse pool of competitors is the best way that I know that we can limit risk and increase value by the different approaches that people will take to applying the business.  I believe that this is also the best way to ensure that we’re going to have local participation because every one of the vendors to whom I’ve spoken, whether internationally or in-state, has all indicated that they’ll want local competitors.  No one will want to be perceived as the guy from outside.
A second major advantage I believe to this business model is that we want to make sure that we do something.  The business that we’re getting into, Members, is not about just making sure that we get people to play on our site.  Most of the people who we’re going to attract are already playing internet poker.  The challenge that we face is to attract that player back to our site.  That means that our site has to provide convenience.  Our site has to provide a better product.  Our site has to provide those things that makes someone leave where they’re already playing and come to the site that’s registered by the state of California.  

So again, SB 45 will offer no special considerations to anyone.  Everybody who applies for a license will compete on a level playing field.  In my original draft, as I mentioned, there were limits on hubs and there were preference points that we were trying to give to bidders.  Since I’m eliminating the number of hubs—the limit on hubs—I’m eliminating the preferences as well, because now what I hope happens is that those pools get together and form partnerships and the partnership itself will be able to pay the fee and since there’s no license limit, there’s no need anymore to have any preferences that go forward.  The proceeds, again, from this enterprise belong in the state treasury and the risk is minimized to the state treasury because we’ll be getting a piece of the action without assuming any of the risk.  

In addition to the elimination of preferences, this removes all likelihood that our gaming law would be struck down as an unlawful preference potentially violates the U.S. and State Constitution.  And similarly, the elimination of limitations on number of hubs likely avoids a challenge as parochial in violation of several parts of the U.S. Constitution.
Parenthetically, it’s not my business if one of the bidders elects to share a portion of their revenue with whomever they choose.  That’s fine.  However, in this scheme you ain’t getting no preference points because of how you chose to share your profit.  That’s your business and I don’t really care what you do with it.

We’ve had several discussions today about poker only.  SB 45 deals with online gaming.  Gaming is defined as any legal game in California.  And I’ve had numerous discussions about making it poker only.  And the stated rationale is we should start with poker and then add other games later.  Having looked at online gaming around the world I can tell you that poker represents roughly 25 percent of the online business.  Some of the business you couldn’t do in California anyway but let’s say that it’s 50 percent.  Why would I start a business giving away 50 percent of the market play?  
But I want to make clear that there’s another thing.  Every game played would be approved by the Department of Justice in California.  Even the poker games would have to be approved because the Department of Justice would have to take the poker games and verify that the software and all of the protocols required to operate that game are still going to go through the same scrutiny as anything else.  So it’s not a function of simply saying I’m going to play poker, whatever it is you play, it’s going to have to be verified by the Department of Justice anyway.  So the argument that you’ll be able to save time because you play poker actually is illogical because the same manner of scrutiny but required on all games.

One only need look at the lottery in California as a lesson in what not to do.  Last year, some of you may recall, we changed the prize pool for the lottery.  This relatively simple adjustment took four years to achieve.  It took negotiations; it took several bills; and it took four years because all of the interested parties had to make sure that they got their piece of the action.  I submit to you that as games move in the internet platform, you will not have four years in order to make a change in your game.  You will have doomed your site to absolute failure because four years to make a change in the game is far too long.  California currently has one of the most underperforming lotteries in the United States.  This is largely because the rules written were written in 1983 and we still operate a game as though we’re in 1983.  When you go to a national conference and you talk about lotteries, everyone laughs about the lottery in California.  It’s not because the game is managed poorly, it’s that the rules and regulations that were established in 1983 didn’t allow for the game to change to reflect the current times.  
The games that we limit on our internet site should be restricted by the Penal Code and the State Constitution.  That should be the limit and the Department of Justice should be able to look at those games and make sure that they comport with California law.  To do anything else would be fiscally irresponsible.  

I flew to Sacramento this Sunday and I used an iPhone as a boarding pass.  Nine months ago who in this audience could have predicted that I could have taken an iPhone and used it as a security document to get on an airplane.  And I would submit to you right now if you said to me, “What is the game that we’re going to play?”  Hell, I don’t know.  But I do know that there are companies around the world who are making up games every day and if we limit ourselves to say that we’re not going to avail ourselves of that technology, many of those companies are right here in California who are currently exporting games to Europe and Asia and other countries.  Why would we limit ourselves from being able to take advantage of that because we have a parochial view of what we think the game ought to be?  
Our Constitution and our Penal Code sets forth what is illegal.  Our Constitution and penal code sets forth what you can do in a card club.  There should be no distinguishing factor from our internet site and what we’ve proposed in our own card clubs.  If there’s a discrepancy relative to exclusivity, if there’s a belief that the card club, that our internet site has become a slot machine, there are ways to reconcile that.  And if the internet site becomes a slot machine, and that’s the belief of some, the Department of Justice is the first arbiter, but if that fails you go to court.  There are people who look at that and we have disputes like that all the time.  It’s not the most difficult thing in the world to do.
We have amended games that we allow in our card clubs.  If I look at some of my card clubs today there are a number of games that they play aside from poker.  Several of the card clubs in my district, poker isn’t even the biggest game even though it’s called a poker club.  That ain’t the biggest game played in the room.  Why would I, then, limit what I’m allowing to be played on my own internet site understanding full well, again, that I’m giving away over 50 percent of the value?  Do you really want to take a business that on one hand you’re going to attach to a forward technology and anchor it to a 200 year old game where you don’t have any changes since then?  This would almost be laughable but for the fact that you’ve got people coming here to make that argument.  And you’d have to come back to the Legislature every time you wanted to add a game or make a change, which as I mentioned earlier, to change the prize pool in the lottery took four years.  This business moves much faster than that and you would not have four years before the site that you just started was bankrupt and you’d end up going from a lot of money to no money in light speed.  I submit to you that that would not be a way that you’d want to operate a business.
We’re going to have to look at making sure that we give our game, as we start up, the maximum flexibility.  
So, yeah, I’m wanting to let it go within the confines of the Constitution.

Let me make another point about background checks.  Everyone who operates a game in California will be subject to a background check—everyone.  Persons subject to a background check will include the partners, the officers, directors of any LLC or business association, the applicant as well as all the vendors who are going to have a significant part in the operation.  It’s important for the Department of Justice to verify that even the upfront fees are not laundered money because one of the things that happens when you’re now talking about playing internet, you become subject to the Wire Act.  And if you’re subject to the Wire Act, if you launder the money that you use to pay the fee, the federal government takes all the money, all the cage, and then you’re left there with nothing.  So we’re going to have to ensure that all of the cash-intensive opportunities to hide illegal money are protected and we know exactly who we’ve been dealing with.

I’ve been asked, why don’t we use the same license that we use for a card club?  We will have to assure the federal government that the funds used on the sites are not laundered and that the state can prevent restricted transactions on its licensed websites.  Because of these and other risks, again, everybody who participates in     SB 45 will be subject to background check.  SB 45 does not prohibit publicly traded companies from being able to bid but the principals and those who have a major share in that operation of making the decision would be checked.  SB 45 does prohibit persons who have violated UIGEA from having any eligibility to operate a game in California.  So every person under SB 45 will be required to establish a California business entity.  This entity will be subject to the laws of California.  This will apply to all applicants without exception.  Undoubtedly, those who’ve already been cleared will have an easier time.  But everyone will be checked.  In addition, SB 45 will require that all the cages and bank accounts be located and available to the Department of Justice in the state of California and this would also apply to all the servers, routers, and facilities used to deliver the service.

We’ve had a bit of discussion about sovereignty and immunity.  For the record it should be noted that a gaming compact does not constitute a license to gamble in the state of California.  It constitutes a right to gamble under certain conditions on Indian tribal land.  The Department of Justice did not do any background checks on any of the signatories to a tribal compact.  And the Artichoke Joe decision makes clear that the state is limited to what it can do on tribal land, as it should, but it also makes sure that the tribal governments cannot gamble off Indian land.
SB 45 will not allow any sovereign entity to be part of an LLC unless sovereignty is clearly waived and the entire LLC and all the membership listed are subject to California law.  This is an absolutely crucial point because I believe the Legislature cannot enact any bill that does not include this provision.  If this bill were passed that an authorized or a member of a tribe or an LLC operated the state’s internet activity, the state would lose its jurisdiction and an enforcement action against the LLC.  In other words, the entire LLC, tribal and non-tribal, such as the card room, would enjoy a sovereignty under certain sections of federal law so we ain’t doing that.  Therefore, SB 45 requires that all parties in the LLC should be totally subject to California law and it includes a requirement that a federally recognized tribe, including the governing body, or any entity or affiliate must expressly waive any immunity if it decides it wants to submit a proposal.  That’s an option that it has.  But those will be the conditions under which you play.  Internet gaming hub, whether alone or as part of an LLC, is a business that will be done in California.

And I want to make something else clear and I’m going to wrap up, Mr. Chair.  It’s important to point out that as we hear all these discussions about revenue projections for online gaming, I want to be careful that, again, we don’t get so excited about all of this new money.  Because notwithstanding the money that we’re able to capture from existing offshore sites, what you’re talking about is shifting discretionary income that’s already in the pockets of California players.  And depending upon where it’s shifted from, you could actually end up with a net loss.  Let me say that again:  You could end up with a net loss to the General Fund depending upon where it goes and what the rate of taxation would have been on how that money was spent.  
Now, our challenge is, again, we’re currently getting zero revenue from the money that’s being spent offshore.  Our immediate action is to make sure that we capture that revenue that we’re losing and to protect the California consumer.  But all the things about we’re going to get all this money assumes that we’re creating new money.  Vegas and Reno and those place who have tourists come and spend money, it’s a revenue source for them because you bring money from California into Nevada.  If somebody is in Stockton and they begin playing, that ain’t new money.  You took that money from something.  So before we celebrate that we got new money, let’s recognize that that money was already here; it was discretionary and it was going to be spent on something in California.  So this ain’t creating no new money.  That’s a fallacy and a myth and we shouldn’t get that excited.  Should we do it?  Of course we should because we know that people are going to play enough that we’ll get no revenue.  So that’s the backdrop that I want to leave against that.  We have a duty to protect Californians who elect to gamble online.  We have an obligation to provide a fair game and we should receive some of the benefits.  
There’s a widespread relief by the current action in Washington, D.C. and I want to conclude here, that Washington, D.C. will be able to have people who visit Washington, D.C. play in cafes or online places as long as they can verify that they were physically in the District of Columbia.  Given the tourist business of California, that be the case, this might be a huge avenue of revenue for us to pursue, plus it would produce additional liquidity and it would, again, the earlier point that I made about bringing in outside revenue.  However, it’s not clear whether or not UIGEA allows this.  Washington, D.C. is currently working through the federal government to see whether it shall be allowed.  So any of that projected revenue for the out of state gaming and tourism and partnerships with other states, we just want to hold our horses because that may or may not be the case.

I believe, Members, that SB 45 is, again, a work in process and it represents the best of my knowledge having travelled as I have to many places to actually see how the games are run.  I should admit for the record, I don’t even know how to play poker.  I should admit, I don’t gamble.  I can tell you about wine.  I can tell you about bryony.  I can tell you about a whole lot of things.  But by training, I come out of a utility background.  I can tell you about regulatory issues.  The regulatory scheme that we put forth in this bill is sound and will provide the maximum rate of return to the taxpayers of the state of California.  I’m confident that it does that.  It does it in a nondiscriminatory manner.  It does it in a manner that gives us the opportunity to have some of the best available brains in the world right here in California delivering us a service.  That’s why I’m supporting the bill.  That’s why I’ve been working on this bill.  And I would then ask the support of everyone who is serious about maximizing the value of an asset to the citizens of the state of California to whom we were elected to represent, you should support SB 45.

Thank you.

SENATOR ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I believe that we have two minutes left on that 30 minutes.  (laughter)

SENATOR WRIGHT:  I’m going to defer to Jeffery Sinsheimer.  

SENATOR ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. JEFFREY SINSHEIMER:  Hello.  My name is Jeffery Sinsheimer.  I’m here on behalf of Bay 101.  Bay 101 wants to become a partner with the state of California in the provision of internet gaming.  We want to thank the Chair and the Members of the Committee and Senator Correa, as well, for the participation in this interim hearing today.  We believe that this interim hearing is incredibly important as we move towards identifying the issues that need to be resolved by the Legislature in order to go forward for a framework for internet gaming.  As our principle, Bay 101 has invested a lot of time, energy and effort in coming forward with various different proposals in addition to the items that were mentioned by the Chairman in terms of limiting risk and increasing value.  
One of the things that we like about SB 45, and in fact, that we’re moving forward very quickly with with respect to SB 40, is the amount of certainty that is within the bill.  We share concerns, including concerns that were raised previously with some of the people who are opposed to SB 40 about the level of which, the speed with which the state’s various different bodies can move in order to put in place regulation.  That’s why the comprehensive view that SB 45 takes towards the policy decisions about not only what the responsibilities are for providers, but how they will be judged in terms of both their technical and financial qualifications above and beyond the preference issues that have been raised by both parties today, we think are incredibly important to give direction to those people who are going to be fulfilling those roles.

In terms of—how much time do I have left, Sir?—

SENATOR WRIGHT:  I think we’re okay.  If I can give him a couple of minutes, Mr. Chair.

SENATOR ANDERSON:  Senator Correa, are you good with that?  Members, are you—Tom, you’re okay?

SENATOR ANDERSON:  Absolutely.

MR. SINSHEIMER:  Thank you very much, Chairman Anderson.  I think that the important thing is to underscore some of the points that were raised by both authors that this is an issue that has been before the Legislature now for two and a half years; that there have been extensive hearings with respect to these matters.  That in fact, gaming continues to take place in the state of California and that there is nothing in place that protects minors, protects problem gamers, and protects players in order to ensure that games are free of fraud and abuse.  

From the point of view of an entity that actually wants to provide these services, we believe that the relationship between the state needs to be clearly defined.  It needs to be defined either in terms of a regulation and call it “fee,” call it “tax entity,” or in our minds the better way to go forward is the franchise model that the Chair talked about just previously, because we believe at the end of the day that that not only protects the asset of the states, but it also protects the partners who are going to be responsible for taking care of those important state interests that are at stake here.  In other words, those interests to make sure that players are over 21.  To make sure that problem gamers have the ability to exclude themselves.  To make sure the players are playing in games that actually are free from fraud and collusion.  And to ensure that the state’s revenue raising goals are in fact achieved in a fashion that are most manageable over time and require the least amount of legislative back and forth in a manner that I think that the Chair adequately described.

We think that there are some concerns in both bills that lead to the notion that they have to be resolved in a certain way.  But as the Chair put it, I think at the beginning of the hearings that we initiated in February, at the end of the day the goal here is to present the governor with one bill.  And so if one looks at a Venn diagram, there are many, many areas in which these two pieces of legislation overlap and where there can be successful resolution.  And it’s outside those Venn diagrams where one bill takes one approach or one bill takes another approach, so this issue about whether one should be looking at a regulatory model or whether one should be looking at a procurement or a franchise based model.  It’s one that should be one that could potentially be easily resolved in a period of time so that we act quickly for the various different reasons that are said going forward.

And I think that one of the benefits of the hearing today has also been to take into account the serious concerns that have been raised by various different people about what they need in a bill in order to be able to see something go forward.

Mr. Chair, I have brought with me Ronald Schmidt who is an economist.       Dr. Schmidt did the original study on SB 1485 last year and basically came to some conclusions given proprietary data, that’s not very dissimilar from the conclusions that Mr. Gage reached.  I think that this speaks to the notion that there is a lot of similarity here with respect to the kind of job creation that can take place and the kind of revenues that the state can receive in a model that does in fact protect the integrity of the state’s assets and is not only fair to the people of California in protecting those interests that the state decides are important, but also to the providers as they decide whether or not to engage in this, and how, going forward.
Mr. Chair, I’m open to your comments.  I thank the Committee for my time and the extension of time.  And I do thank, again, Senator Correa and Senator Wright for their work in this effort.  Thank you very much.

SENATOR ANDERSON:  I’d like to open it up right now for questions from the panel here if any of the Members have questions.  Then if we have some additional witnesses from the crowd that would like to come forward and speak.  We’ve already spoken to SB 40 so let’s limit our remarks to SB 45.  If there’s anybody out there that wants to come forward.  
UNIDENTIFIED:  _____ opposition?
SENATOR ANDERSON:  Yes, that’s fine if you want to come.  We’ll take both opposition and anybody in favor.

If you wouldn’t mind in your testimony, just saying your name again for some of the members who have come and gone.  Thank you.
MS. LOHSE:  Leslie Lohse, the vice-chair for the California Tribal Business Alliance.  While we are not in support of SB 45, we are not totally opposed to SB 45 because, obviously, the framework is there.  In order to come to some conclusion that as Senator Wright has said, to help California, because we are Californians ourselves, but also address some issues in regard to regulatory and the exclusivity issues.  Because as the gentleman that was here said that Mr. Gage’s conclusions matched this gentleman’s.  That was all assuming that exclusivity was not breached.  I just wanted to make sure and those are the issues that we have.  But I greatly appreciate Senator Wright’s thoughtfulness in going forward and researching this subject and his approach to finding some conclusion that will help California. 

Thank you.

SENATOR ANDERSON:  If we could have people line up that want to speak and then we’ll just alternate back and forth between these chairs.  Come on down and try to limit your comments though.

Yes, sir.

REV. BUTLER:  Thank you.  Reverend James Butler from the California Coalition Against Gambling Expansion.  As you pointed out, many of our concerns of SB 40 are also found within SB 45.  However, there are some specific elements that we would like to address as well.

Some of the findings, for instance, as were even identified here today, that it is a positive for the state of California.  I would challenge some of the economics in terms of a simple cost benefit analysis.  Currently there is, and Senator Wright may have different numbers than I have and is probably worthy of a discussion at a different time, but at this point gambling currently costs the state of California more than      $1 billion a year.  This will increase that cost.  And at some of the most optimistic elements only brings in some $100 million per year.  So there’s something that has to be offset.  
And in terms of fiduciary responsibility, we want to be absolutely certain and clear that the benefit will outweigh the cost.

I also want to commend this particular bill and if it is to be passed, I hope that some of it can be incorporated; especially some of the reporting elements that are found within this bill that will require—on the bill, page-49, it’s in article 10—require the kind of reports that have to be made.  And I would hope that it might also include a cost benefit analysis on a regular basis not only to see how it may be performing, but how it is being balanced by the expenditures to the state in both economic and social costs.

There is also a hope that if this were to pass, and again we hope it will not, that it will also include some of the same registration requirement that will allow the state to identify exactly who is playing and seeing that these are people who are not receiving benefits from the state, which in essence will be used to bank or fund their gambling expenses.

There are safeguards.  I hope that these will be expanded, as I said before, to limit the maximum amounts that can be lost.  And hope that before this is enacted that we will, again, acknowledge and recognize that discretionary dollars are not all spent on gambling.  So if money is—if more gambling is made available it will have not only the social impacts on our society, but the economic cost as well.

If you need more information I’m glad to provide it, but I know our time is limited.  Thank you very much.

SENATOR ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Yes, sir.

MR. NORWOOD:  Mr. Chairman, Members, John Norwood again on behalf of Churchill Downs.  I just wanted to indicate that Churchill Downs generally supports the public-private partnership concept of SB 45.  The bill proposes to create an open architecture type system that’s consistent with other successful models as deployed in Italy and France.  We read it as giving us a level playing field in order to compete for a license.  

Prior to Chairman Wright’s comments today, we were concerned about the artificial cap on number of licenses and the preferences issue, and those have been resolved so we appreciate that movement on this bill.

Thank you very much.

SENATOR ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Are there anymore comments from the public?

SENATOR WRIGHT:  My horse racing group but I’ll call them up later.  They’re not about the bill; they’re about another issue.

SENATOR ANDERSON:  Okay.  I think that closes the presentation for SB 45.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  _________ for your patience.  The last thing that we want to do is hear from other interests.  I saw Mr. Bafford and I referenced him earlier.  I know there are a group of people who are involved in the horseracing industry and I’d like to ask them to come forward at this time.  
MR. JACK OWENS:  Mr. Chair and Members of the Committee, my name is Jack Owens.  I’m chairman of the Thoroughbred Owners of California.  I thank you very much for your invitation to us to speak.  With me at the table is Joe Harper, President and MCEO of Del Mar; Sue Green who is the president of the California Thoroughbred Breeders Association, she represents the farms that are out of business; John Harris, CHRB commissioner, a major owner/breeder; Richard Mandella, Bob Bafford, two Hall of Fame trainers who have come in.  And with the Chair’s indulgence, may I ask the other members of the racing industry who have shown up to just state their name for the record.  

SENATOR WRIGHT:  We’ll allow time for that.

MR. OWENS:  Thank so much.  

SENATOR WRIGHT:  They don’t kick us out for 45 minutes.

MR. OWENS:  Okay.  I’ll be as brief as I can be.  

As you know, Sir, because you’ve studied this so much, California really has currently—or, the racing industry in California has the only legal form of internet wagering currently permitted in the state.  We are fully vetted, policed, licensed, examined by the CHRB.  And I have to say that I think the tracks in California have a remarkable history of compliance.  We have beautiful racetracks that have been very well behaved in the area of compliance with the gambling laws.
As you know, Sir, from prior testimony, our industry directly or indirectly employs tens of thousands of Californians.  We are a major agri-business.  Our outlet to the market is through the tracks.  We represent a tremendous investment and employment in farming, breeding, training, down the line.  We are a green space provider because our breeding farms, as I’m sure you know, are some of the most beautiful facilities in the state and keeping them in farming is, I think, has certain environmental benefits.  We are a multi-billion dollar a year industry in California.  We are a tourism attraction.  We offer substantial entertainment economics to the state.  As you also know, and as these gentlemen—these two trainers will point out—we operate in a national market.  We are competing with other major racing states; New York, Florida, New Jersey, you name it.  Many of those states have supplemented their horse racing industries with alternate gambling streams and that, of course, is a major competitive threat to us in trying to maintain what is one of the really truly quality racing industries in the country from one end to the other; from the livestock to the trainers, to the owners, to the breeders, to the jockeys.  We have a first class industry, one that the state should be proud of.  And we really hope that you’ll take our interests into account as you continue the process of evolving these bills.

Someone earlier testified to the bill that passed, I think, overwhelmingly in New Jersey, and apparently was vetoed on a technicality by the governor.  That bill provided a direct and large payment into the purse accounts at the New Jersey tracks, including one of our major competitors, Monmouth.  Joe Harper can tell you how much the competition can be sometimes with Monmouth.  There, that state recognized in an internet gaming context the wisdom of protecting the horse racing industry.  
Enough of my comments.  I would—with your indulgence—prefer that you hear from people whose livelihoods are in this business; whose careers are in this business.  And from that standpoint, I’d like to have Sue Green give some brief comments on the breeding part of the business.  And I’d very much like the two trainers to talk about the state of the industry as they see it from their perspective.

MS. SUE GREEN:  My name is Sue Green and I am the current president of the California Thoroughbred Breeders Association.  I have been involved with thoroughbred racing since 1969.  It is my sole source of income.  It has provided for me.  I’ve built three farms; one in southern California and two in northern California.  I currently reside in northern California and have a 64-acre farm where I breed thoroughbred race horses.  

In representing the California Thoroughbred Breeders Association with over 1,500 members and 200 farms located throughout California, we represent the third largest thoroughbred producing state in the country with an annual full crop of about 2,200.  We supply the horses needed to fill the cards that support racing.

The breeders and farms represent the backbone of our industry.  We provide brood mares, stallions, young horses, foals, breaking and training, as well as retirement homes for older horses.  For those of you who don’t understand that terminology; we have the mommies, the daddies, the teenagers, the youngsters, and, we also have the second-chance home for horses who your sons and daughters might be riding currently today.  
Our industry provides over 50,000 jobs that are not limited just to farms or the backside to the racetracks.  Our industry relies on hay growers, grain production, mills that provide bedding material, as well as those that remove manure, veterinarians, ferries, insurance providers, as well as the racetracks themselves and those employed by all the tracks and the fair facilities.  We are a $4 billion a year entity to the state of California through agri-business, tourism, as well as entertainment that horseracing provides.  
Our Cal-Bred Program, which means the foals are born in California and raised in California, makes up over 55 percent of the field sizes statewide.  Without these Cal-Breds, at our various racetracks there would be no racing in our state.  

Our recent implemented Cal-Bred Bonus Program has helped our breeders and owners and trainers, but we are still facing numerous threats to this great industry.  We are losing horsemen and women to other racing states that have been able to significantly grow their purses and incentive award programs through the addition of slot revenues.  Certain states which were never a serious threat to our industry are now thriving due to larger purses and returns on their investments.  

The costs associated with our industry have increased steadily and purses have not kept pace to offset these rising costs.  We need the opportunity to increase our purse structure, thus making it possible to enhance our incentive programs and reward our breeding programs with the better financial opportunities.  As breeders, we are dependent on the demand for the product we produce.  All the rising costs incurred with ownership and stagnant purses have a negative effect on the farms and all that they encompass.  California’s breeding and production entity would have a positive effect if we were able to receive financial contributions generated from internet poker.  We need everyone in the room to understand just how important it would be to the breeding industry and to racing—a huge agri-business in California if we were allowed a seat at the table.

Thank you.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.


MR. BOB BAFFORD:  Mr. Chairman, thank you for the kind introduction.  I’m Bob Bafford, horse trainer.  And to me left here, another Hall of Fame trainer, Richard Mandella.  


I grew up in Arizona training horses, and in the late ‘70s I was doing pretty well.  But for some reason every time a horse trailer with blue license plates came over, they used to just kick our butts.  So I decided I’m tired of that.  
In 1983, I came to California.  The first thing I did; I went out and got myself a blue license plate.  And ever since that I’ve been very fortunate and blessed to have been able to train some really great thoroughbreds that have gone on to win Kentucky Derbies and Preaknesses, Belmont, so forth.  And I’ve been so proud every time.  

I’ve been to every racetrack in America and believe me, nothing compares to the racetracks we have here in California.  And it’s getting tougher and tougher.  I’ve seen my fellow horse trainers just struggle.  

These tracks are the alternate gaming, they’re always rolling out the red carpet.  They’re trying to get me there.  They’re trying to persuade me.  And not that, but it’s gotten to the point where California, we used to—all of our big races were million dollar races and now it’s forcing us to ship our horses out of here and run at these tracks.  And they’re just been raiding us.  We’ve been holding tough but it’s getting to the point where if we can just be on some kind of an even playing field, just some sort of stimulation to keep these good horses, to keep these clients in the game here in California, because believe me, we have the best racing here in California.  That’s why I’m up here.  

I’ve never been involved in anything like this.  I think it’s fantastic.  I’ve seen you guys on television and all that.  But this is quite an honor just to be sitting here and explain to me.  But you know what?  I do not want to leave California.  I want to stay here.  And I think what you’re talking about here today, I think it’s the greatest idea.

Chairman Wright, I think your speech up there was phenomenal.  I wish I could speak that well and I’d have more clients.


But it’s one of those things where I just think this is the best thing I’ve heard in a long time to stimulate horse racing in California because we have the best weather, the best racetracks, and the best fans.  


Thank you.


MR. RICHARD MANDELLA:  I’m Richard Mandella, a horse trainer from southern California.  I also am in the Hall of Fame like Bob is; but Bob with his great horses, I got in on my sense of humor.  


I was born in Altadena, California and raised in Beaumont.  I broke yearlings on a big ranch named Three-Rings Ranch.  When I was a young kid I helped roundup cattle on the Morongo Indian Reservation.  I’m sure there’s people here from there today.


SENATOR WRIGHT:  You might owe them a fee.


MR. MANDELLA:  They might owe me.  I never got paid.  It’s child labor. (laughter)


Anyway, like Bob, I made it to win some big races.  Not as many as he has.  I made it into the Hall of Fame.  But the last few years with the other states having the impact of wagering outside of racing to supplement their purse structure, you have to travel.  And the owners that we have, see these big purses and big races and they continue to say to me, “Which state would you want to move to?”  And I’d say, “I’m a Californian and I’m here to stay.”  But we do have the pressure to move.


The stable area is probably half the size of the horse population that it used to be.  My son is 39 years old.  Three years ago he had a stable of 32 horses; he’s down to 16.  I think that’s typical of the average trainer in California right now, other than people as lucky as Bob and myself.  I mean, we’re doing okay.  But the average and the guy trying to work up to be something is getting discouraged.


Racing can’t take many more blows to it.  The lottery hit us.  The Indian tribal gambling affected us, and we can’t take many more shots.  So we need some support to not lose any more of our foundation.  And hopefully we can restructure ourselves to come back to the glory days we were.

Thank you.


MR. JOHN HARRIS:  I’m John Harris.  I’m owner/breeder from Fresno.  As mentioned, I’ve been on the CHRB (California Horseracing Board) for a number of years.  I was first appointed in 2001 by Governor Davis and have been reappointed by Governor Schwarzenegger.  I’m just about to get off.  But I want to clarify today; I’m not speaking at all on behalf of the racing board.  The racing board hasn’t discussed this legislation or taken a position on it.  But I’m just speaking as a horse owner/breeder and someone who really holds the horse industry very dear to my heart.

And I can see that the state and all kind of segments of it need revenue and they need to look at every possible avenue and the internet poker is one of them.  And I don’t think any of us wants to be a structurist or do anything that would damage any segment but it is critical we look at what sort of mitigation racing needs to get in this bill because right now horseracing is the only thing that can be wagered on legally really anywhere in the United States via the internet.  

And I was also active in some of the federal legislation and that was a tough deal to get through.  But it’s clear that in a state that approves wagering on racing, they can have internet accounts.  So California has been set up since 2002, and it’s grown to be a very significant part of our total revenues and to give that exclusive up, we need to have something or some mitigation back.  And I think it’s so important to preserve the horse industry because it’s so much more labor intensive than just some computer platform would be.  And it has a long heritage and anything we do in this bill, we need to protect the horse segment.

MR. JOE HARPER:  I’m Joe Harper, President of Del Mar Racetrack.  I’ll be brief and I don’t want to repeat what these guys have said because they said it much more eloquently than I could.  But they’re very correct; there’s a lot of problems in this industry and a lot of it has to do with competition and unfair competition in my opinion. 
It was mentioned about New Jersey getting as much revenue as they’ve getting; it’s a competition for horses.  With every horse that leaves the state of California, a bunch of jobs go with it.  Whether they’re exercise riders, grooms, high walkers; whether they’re SEIU mutual clerks or Teamsters in the parking lot, ticket takers in our business, jobs go out.  More than one or two or three jobs go out with every horse that leaves here.  

It’s imperative that we get parity in this bill.  We have to be included in it.  It’s a double hit if we don’t.  If we don’t, we’re going to get impacted by internet poker and have no benefit from it.  And if we don’t, we’re going to get impacted unfairly by our inability to compete with the other states.  

This is probably the most important piece of legislation I’ve seen come up that would affect our business in many years.  And I just urge you to keep racing in this bill and to keep parity with the Indian tribes and the card clubs.

Thank you.

MS. GLORIA HAYLIE:  I’m Gloria Haylie, Vice-President of Northern California, representing California thoroughbred trainers.  We are in support of SB 45.  And secondly, we are in support of an amendment to the Correa bill, adding horse racing.

Thank you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Let me pose a question to the group.  And Mr. Harris, Mr. Owens, I’m not sure—clearly the marketplace for gaming is changing.  I mean, I grew up about a mile away from Hollywood Park.  And as I’ve said many times, Manchester Boulevard from the Harbor Freeway all the way to Hollywood Park on game day was bumper to bumper traffic.  Today during race day at Hollywood Park, you might see 5- or 6,000 people in the stands.  I think one of the things that has been unfortunate, is that we’ve shifted the game from one of being a spectator sport—and I remind people all the time that Hollywood Park is in Inglewood and it was called Hollywood Park because it was the playground of Hollywood.

I think we’ve got to do a couple of things with horseracing.  The entertainment value somehow has to be restored because if we’re solely relying on gambling to cover the cost of horseracing, the business of horseracing—and you’re right, it’s an agricultural business—but if we’re relying on gambling to cover the cost, a horse is a very expensive slot machine.  And we’re going to have to create other things.  I know at Hollywood they’ve recently been doing some concerts and some other events.  But I’m not sure if you said to me parity or whatever, should we, say, take 10 percent of the revenue that would go—I mean, what would constitute parity?  I mean, we’ve done a number of things here and I’m just free expressing.  I mean, we did have a fee that was on horseracing that subsidized the fairs.  We took that back.  We launched ADW as a means of getting another platform going.  Last year we enacted exchange wagering that becomes, hopefully, an enhancement to what’s already going on the advanced deposit.  I think we’d be hard pressed to say that we take another industry, whether it’s poker or other gaming or any other industry for that matter, obviously there’s a relationship between horseracing and gaming, but if I were taking an argument should I take a 5 percent spread on the artichoke crop and say I’m applying that to horseracing, I mean, what becomes the nexus?  And I’m sympathetic and I’m not trying to be cavalier, but what becomes the nexus to say that this should go for some of that?  And if there is a nexus, then how do we quantify it?
MR. HARPER:  Let me take a shot at that.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Please.

MR. HARPER:  And I’m speaking to you as an operator of a racetrack, one that I think everybody will agree here, is probably the best one in, I’d like to say, the country.  Saratoga does a pretty good job in the summer, but of course …
SENATOR WRIGHT:  Hollywood Park in Inglewood is nice too.

MR. HARPER:  Well, I think—we’re all nice, but I think we have to reinvent ourselves.  When you talk about less attendance at racetracks; Del Mar is doing terrific.  We have the highest attendance of any track in California—probably two to three times as much because we’ve had to reinvent ourselves.  And I’m not asking—I don’t think we’re up here asking you to, hey, throw money at a dying game.  I think because it’s not.  It certainly isn’t and Del Mar is a prime example of that.  And if you market your product right, you get a great return on it.  But you have to market your product, and the product is where we’re losing.  Because the product—because we can’t compete with other tracks with other revenue sources for horses, and it’s all about that.  I mean I think that you have more—to market yourself you market your product.  I can’t just put reggae bands and rock concerts at Del Mar and expect the people just to show up.  I have to wrap our product in a better package, which we’ve done.  But it has to be there.  The horses have to be there.  The good horses, the good trainers, that brings the core people in.  And then I can bring in the rest of the group that doesn’t go to other racetracks but comes to Del Mar because of all this.  That’s what we’re really asking for here.  We need parity not just in this bill, but we really need parity with the other states.  We need to be able to take that revenue and keep our product here; keep our industry here going.

I don’t know if that’s what you’re going for.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  I’m just trying to understand; as we take this bill—in the draft that I had, if you asked me what do I envision the ideal California site looking like, there would certainly be a spot—when you logged on, there should clearly be the ability to have your ADW, whether it’s poker or whatever else becomes the menu of games available.  Again, I think from a convenience standpoint it should all be there and available to you.  And so, I would hope, for example, that any of the operators created a reciprocal agreement with the ADW operators so that there was a nexus to those sites.  And it might well be that some of the ADW operators could end up with their own site and operate their own game and they created a nexus.  But absent there being a kind of parity, subsidy payment, again, I want to be clear what we’re talking about when we say that; are we saying that we should take a portion of the money being spent on other games and transfer it in; should we make the horseracing sites more accessible to people who might want to do that or some combination of the two?  And I don’t have a smart answer so that’s why—I mean, you guys do this every day and I don’t.  But I’m trying to understand how we make this work for not just Del Mar, but Hollywood or Santa Anita or any of the other major institutions.  As I said, Hollywood is in my district and I grew up about a mile away from it so I’ve come to appreciate it as a great facility.  But I also saw the renaissance built on what used to be the track in the back and if it wasn’t for the housing downturn, we probably wouldn’t have the track itself.  I’m concerned but I’m trying—what becomes the best way that we can help you absent necessarily putting a tax on another industry to cover cost?  What do we do?  
SENATOR CORREA:  Mr. Chair?

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Yes, Senator Correa.

SENATOR CORREA:  To follow-up on your comments with a question to the industry.  You have concerns but I guess, as Rod was asking, are you all kind of in consensus on what it is that you want; what the solution is; or do we have difference of opinion?  And I ask everybody not only here, but I see others in the industry.

MR. HARPER:  This is one of those rare times where we come to you holding hands.  This industry realizes the problem _________ concerned …

SENATOR CORREA:  Right.  But do you have language?  Do you have a specific perspective about what the solution is?  Are you looking for work to get there?

MR. HARRIS:  We’d like it all.  I don’t there there’s a silver bullet.  

SENATOR CORREA:  That’s unique here in Sacramento.  That’s a unique perspective.  

MR. HARRIS:  I think the whole industry needs to reinvent itself and you know, be much more fan friendly and more aggressively seeking new customers.  But I’m not sure we really have exactly a model that helps us.  And I think Senator Wright’s point is well taken, that we don’t really have a plan.  But I think the message we want to get across is that we need to be taken into consideration and allowed to develop something.

MR. HARPER:  Bernie, do you want to jump in here?

MS. BERNIE THURMAN:  Bernie Thurman, Vice-President of Hollywood Park.  Racing has been part of my life for as long as I can remember.  I think what we’re in support of is having parity in being in the starting when all the players begin the process.  We want to be part of the process.  I don’t think we’re looking for a handout; we want to be there at the table on a level playing field.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay, but do you want to bid for a site?

MS. THURMAN:  Yes.
SENATOR WRIGHT:  One of the differences in the two proposals that you’ve heard today, I have no problem with that.  My thought would be—and I’m thinking now—ideally what I think ought to happen would be that your industry might pair up with some of the other people.  What I find that people enjoy when they’re shopping for things is that you might have, for example—and I’m thinking now about I was at Hollywood a couple of weeks ago and during the break times between races I had the ability to bet on other races that were going on other places, so between race 6 and 7 I could go to the window and I could bet on a race that was being televised from another location.  And one of the things, for example, it’s been my experience watching some of the gaming sites is that I get a player who has just signed on to the California site except there are only two people waiting in the queue to form a game.  I’m going to need to do something in the interim to hold that player from saying, “Eh, the hell with it.  There’s nobody for me to play.”  An ideal thing might be, for example, if the Del Mar card was also a part of the site.  And so if that website said, “Oh, we should have a game for you in the next five minutes but meanwhile, the 7th race at Del Mar is about to kickoff and you might want to consider placing a bet—I mean, again, the site, to me, that we set up needs to provide those kinds of conveniences so that (a) the California gaming site doesn’t lose that player because we give him options of other things that he can do as his poker game is forming.  That would certainly be something that I think that any operator would welcome as a means of having their game site work and I would certainly have no problem with doing that.  And certainly, looking forward, even to there being a partnership that would occur where you might become one of the partners in a site and your contribution might be the fact that you bring your product to the site.  And I’m acknowledging that what you have as a product that has value and that that would be, perhaps, your contribution to the site and how the financials were worked out would be a business decision that you would make with the other persons who are doing business.  But I don’t personally see a problem with that.  And the way that we’ve written SB 45, that would be completely compatible with what would work.
SENATOR CORREA:  Through the Chair.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Yes.

SENATOR CORREA:  So you do have a consensus that you have a solution?  I mean, you have some language that we can share; we can look at?  Yes?  No?  Yes with an exclamation point or with a question mark at the end.  I haven’t heard the answer.  Can I have an answer?  Are you all pretty much in consensus of what it is that you’re looking for?

MR. HARPER:  Yes.

SENATOR CORREA:  As an industry; yes?

GROUP:  Yes.

SENATOR CORREA:  Yes.  I just want to make sure because as I listen to your support if amended or opposed unless amended.  The other opposition earlier, the point was made that we shouldn’t be in a hurry and I heard the Chair say that he’s been working on this for a couple of years or more.  So I’m trying to figure out where all of us are going.  Is it we’re in no hurry or do we want to do nothing?  Because two and a half years of working on this, in my humble opinion, we’ve probably explored every public policy issue there is under this subject matter and really the issues now are probably more political than they are policy.  And so, I’d like to see some language, some specifics as to where we want to go.  And this is not just to you, but some of the other opposition.  No hurry means we can do this for another two and a half years and I’m not quite sure we have that luxury.  So again, I’m trying to figure out as the author of SB 40, what it is; where you want to go.  I think this is the first time I have heard you say that you’re in consensus of a solution for your industry.  Yes?

UNIDENTIFIED:  Yes.

SENATOR CORREA:  Yes with an exclamation point.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROBERT HARTMAN:  My name is Robert Hartman and I’m representing Santa Anita Park Racetrack and Golden Gate Fields Racetrack.  Thank you for holding this hearing.  I just want to be very clear on behalf of our two racetracks, and I think I can speak on behalf of the rest of the industry.  We’re looking for a license to conduct online poker; that’s what the industry is looking for.  We need it.  We need it for parity with the card clubs; for parity with the tribal casinos.  And Golden Gate Fields, which I’m the general manager of, we’re going to be down to three days a week of racing.  We have 12 unions that used to work five days a week or six days a week and they’re down to three days a week of racing.  Without a license for horseracing to conduct online poker, we’re probably going to be out of business in the next couple of years.  So I think that’s what you hear our colleagues asking for.  And I hope we can work with the authors and figure out how to include horseracing in the respective bills.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Senator Berryhill.

SENATOR TOM BERRYHILL:  Yes, just a couple of comments.  (1) Horseracing is such a historical part of California that I don’t think any of us want to lose it.  It’s certainly been in my family forever and we’d like to see it around a while.  I think that you’ve got a great opportunity here to create a consortium.  There’s a lot of folks that are still trying to come to consensus so we can all get behind a bill.  I think there’s a way that we can make this thing happen.  But I think instead of having almost asking for just almost to be a welfare check, I think that we have to be fully engaged and take a look at the opportunities to having partnerships in this deal so we can move forward and keep the horseracing industry viable.  After all, it really is a center stage for our fairs, for agriculture, for tourism in the state of California.  We don’t want to lose it.  We know that it’s taken shots.  And we would certainly like, at this point in time, to keep you viable.  But I think at the same time, you know, where’s Ken Maddy when we really need him?  Because I think that the industry needs to stay together and needs to walk forward arm-in-arm in whatever you decide ______ and I think if you do that, that we can all come out at the end of the tunnel here altogether and keeping everybody whole.  So, keep working.
SENATOR WRIGHT:  Yes, sir.

MR. CHRIS CORBBIE:  Mr. Chairman, thank you very much for the opportunity to speak here.  My name is Christopher Corbbie.  I’m executive director of the California Authority of Racing Fairs.  And I’m here to join the rest of the racing industry.  And fairs and the horseracing industry share a long heritage together, as Senator Berryhill just mentioned.  And we want to join the representatives from other sectors of the industry in asking for an equal opportunity with respect to internet poker.  Racing has hit a rough patch in California.  It’s very important to our member fairs.  We’re relying on the revenues generated from horseracing.  And we think it’s important that the horseracing industry have an opportunity—an equal opportunity—with others in the internet poker legislation that goes forward.  
Part of the heritage that we share with horseracing is that we’re at an intersection of three pillars of the California economy; agriculture, entertainment, and tourism.  And we believe that both industries contribute to that.  We employ tens of thousands of Californians.  And we need this opportunity to stay competitive so that racing participants do not leave California for other states which are artificially subsidized by revenues from other forms of gaming.  

So thank you very much for the opportunity.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  But again, so that we’re clear in the draft that we have of 45, you would have two opportunities to participate; one would be to just secure a license.  Say if you all pulled your resources and secured a license for the industry, that would be a way.  And another way would be if you were to partner with someone else who—and again, the financial arrangements would be whatever you’d work out.  But in the current draft of 45, there would be two ways that you could participate depending upon how much cash you put together and how you went.  So let me make it clear, that’s already in there; that you would have that level playing field available to you in the current draft.

MR. CORBBIE:  Well, we welcome that opportunity and we look forward to supporting that opportunity in whatever legislation comes forward.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  But I would—I’m not telling you how to run your business.  I don’t know how to play poker.  I learned what a trifecta was—it wasn’t too long ago.  If I were looking at your industry as a gaming platform I think you want to be—the person who’s coming to play a specific kind of game, and it might be that they came on the site because they wanted to bet on a horserace someplace, but for the person who didn’t come to do that, we’ve got to give him—to make what you provide an opportunity for somebody who didn’t necessarily come to do horseracing to go, “Oh, you mean I can bet on a race at Del Mar while I’m on this site?”  I mean, you need that kind of synergy to draw people in who may not have otherwise even been looking at it.  Again, it might be that while the site’s running, for example, something says, “Oh, this is a trifecta.  This is how you can place the bet.”  Because at each of your tracks you have pari-mutuels who are explaining to people what the bet is; “This a Pick-6.  This is the box.”  And part of what you have to have in rebuilding your industry, in my view and I could be off, is you need to educate people about the dynamics of how you place the bet.  If we’re able to launch the exchange wager feature that we just authorized in statute, people are going to need to understand how that works because it provides a wider space of time during which you could place the bet.  But you’ve got to both educate the player to create that interest and I think there are ways to do that if we get the sites going and allow them to work.  So, yeah, I am all for there being horseracing as a part of the whole package.  And I wouldn’t just say that you would say I want to get a portion of the poker or any other games revenue, but I think what you also want to do is build up the interest and the betting in your particular avenue as well.  And it might be that this becomes a way of almost bringing people to a track who don’t physically have to show up at the track.  
So I’m thinking out loud and I didn’t mean to do that.  But I better hurry up because in a few minutes they’re going to kick us out of here.
MR. CORBBIE:  I think you’ve identified an opportunity that we very much want to have.  It may be that becomes part of a larger marketing package; that we have to present our horseracing product as well.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.

MR. CORBBIE:  We’re not asking for a percentage of the revenues.  I don’t think anyone here is asking for that.  We’re asking for an opportunity to operate it ourselves.

Thank you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you very much.

MR. DINO PEREZ:  Thank you, Chairman.  My name is Dino Perez and I’m with Pacific Coast Quarter Horse Racing Association.  And we represent the quarter horse owners and trainers.  Our business, just like our thoroughbred friends here, we’re in the same position as they are.  So just for the record, the quarter horse people are 100 percent behind these bills.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.

MR. RICHARD ENGLISH:  Thank you.  My name is Richard English representing Los Alamitos Racetrack.  And like Dino said, we are with our thoroughbred brothers 100 percent on this issue.  And the industry is united in working together on this.  

And that’s what I wanted to express why I’m here today.  Thank you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you very much.

MR. JOSH RUBINSTEIN:  Mr. Chairman, thank you.  Josh Rubinstein from the Del Mar Racetrack.  Thank you for including horseracing in this hearing.  

Just to summarize:  Racing would very much like to have equal footing in terms of any internet poker bill that is being introduced along with the card clubs and the Indian tribes.  Internet gaming is what we do.  We’ve done it very successfully for ten years and we’d like to be involved in any further expansion.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Okay.  I dare say that at Del Mar, the hats and the spandex on opening day. (laughter)

MR. RUBINSTEIN:  Thank you so much.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  I’m just saying.  

MR. RUBINSTEIN:  I hope you’ll come down for it.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  I plan to be there.

MR. RUBINSTEIN:  Thank you so much for allowing us this time.  I really appreciate it.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.  Are there other witnesses who—we’ve got a few minutes left?  Just because we have it doesn’t mean anybody has to take it.  Well, on behalf of the Committee—I’m sorry.  Senator Correa.

SENATOR CORREA:  I have some closing remarks after you.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Go ahead.

SENATOR CORREA:  I just wanted to thank the Chair for the hearing today—informational hearing—and all the witnesses that came out today for this hearing.
And Mr. Chair, you talked about the fiduciary duty for the state of California.  I couldn’t agree with you more.  And that’s the motivation behind my legislation is; it is my fiduciary duty to the state of California.  And let me say that along with that fiduciary duty, the supporters of my bill and I believe that if we don’t move today, this year, California is likely to be completely cutoff from this business and this whole hearing and all these concerns will essentially be for not.  Again, we have to move and we have to move today.  As the Chairman said, he worked on this for two and a half years.  It’s time to act.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

SENATOR WRIGHT:  Thank you.  And let me again thank all the people who came.  I know some people traveled from near and far.  We are going to continue to work.  I think that there is clearly a need to get some things done.  I’m glad to see such movement within the industry.  As I mentioned earlier, when I first started I was getting shot at from all sides, so at least we’ve been able to minimize the flack that we’re taking.  

I appreciate everyone coming.  We started pretty close to on time.  Let me thank Senator Anderson, Senator Berryhill, Senator Hernandez, Senator de León and the other Members who came, and all the witnesses who testified, and certainly those individuals from the horseracing industry, the members of the card clubs, the members of the tribal governments who have come and who have been participating.  We’ve still got work to do and there’s no effort here to throw in the towel.  I think that we all see that there is clearly an effort to have some successful conclusion.  

So again, we’re going to adjourn this hearing but certainly the idea of internet gaming is nowhere near adjourned in this legislative session.

Thank you.
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